
















Annual General 
Meeting (AGM)

The AGM is the main 
platform to communicate with 
investors. Besides providing an 
opportunity for investors to 
share their perspectives, the 
AGM also enables the 
management team to speak 
directly to them. All Board 
members attend and answer 
questions from shareholders 
relating to the past, current 
and future directions of the 
business, explain decisions 
made and address any 
concerns. OKP takes full 
advantage of the AGM to 
inform shareholders of recent 
developments and provide an 
opportunity for shareholders 
to ask questions. All directors 
are expected to attend the 
AGM, especially the 
Chairpersons of the Audit, 
Nomination and Remuneration 
committees. Shareholders 
may also submit written 
questions relating to the 
statutory audit report and we 
will respond in a timely 
manner to their concerns.

Corporate 
Developments

As it is important for our 
investors to be kept up to 
date on OKP’s developments, 
we issue announcements on 
new contracts, strategic 
developments and other 
important information through 
SGXNET, press releases and 
email alerts. This information 
is also posted on OKP’s 
website. Our quarterly 

fi nancial results and annual 
reports are announced and 
published within 
the mandatory reporting 
period, and posted on OKP’s 
website for viewing and 
reference.

Analyst and Media 
Briefi ngs

Members of the management 
team avail themselves to 
meet analysts during the 
release of OKP’s half-year 
and full-year results. Outside 
of the fi nancial results 
announcement period, where 
necessary and appropriate, 
we would also meet analysts 
and fund managers who seek 
a better understanding of 
our operations. In addition, 
where appropriate, we conduct 
media interviews to give 
shareholders and the public 
deeper insights into our 
business and management 
thinking when opportunities 
present themselves. We 
also conduct tours to some 
of our facilities for interested 
analysts and the media 
when appropriate. OKP 
Holdings Limited enjoys 
relatively extensive coverage 
and is currently covered 
by CIMB Research, DBS 
Vickers Securities, DMG & 
Partners Research, OCBC 
Investment Research and 
SIAS Research. During the 
year, we were featured in 
various newspapers, journals 
and magazines such as The 
Business Times, Lianhe 
Zaobao, The Edge, Singapore 
Business Review Online, and 

South East Asia Construction. Some interesting stories 
featuring the company include:

 “Productivity issues in construction industry” 
The Edge 31 October 2011

 “Gross profi t margin surge boosts 
OKP bottom line”
The Business Times, 25 October 2011

 “King of the road: OKP Holdings set to ride on 
Singapore’s building boom”
Singapore Business Review Online, 30 September 2011)

 “OKP forges closer links with China Sonangol; 
mulls stake in property venture”
The Edge, 29 August 2011

“OKP’s Q2 profi t up 61per cent to $6.9m”
The Business Times, 26 July 2011

“OKP wins roadwork contract”
South East Asia Construction, May – June 2011

“OKP Holdings – Growing our business and our 
future, here and abroad” 
The Business Times, 3 May 2011

 “OKP unit bags $61.7m deal for roadworks”
The Business Times, 7 April 2011

 “OKP secures $4.2m PUB contract”
The Business Times, 22 March 2011

 “OKP clinches $28.5m deal to 
widen Old Choa Chu Kang Rd”
The Business Times, 9 February 2011

 Lianhe Zaobao, 16 February 2012

  “OKP doubles Q4 earnings” 
 The Business Times, 16 February 2012

 “OKP Holdings eyes property 
investment, overseas projects” 

 The Straits Times, 20 February 2012

During the year, OKP 
was featured in various 
publications, including 
Business Times, LHZB and 
The Edge. The company 
is also covered by various 
securities houses.
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Investor
Relations cont’d

As a result of the increase in profi t 
after tax, earnings per ordinary share 
increased from 6.5 cents in FY2010 
to 9.0 cents in FY2011.

* Retrospective adjustment for bonus shares 
issued in FY2009

INVESTORS’ RATIOS

BASIC EARNINGS PER 
ORDINARY SHARE
CENTS

The total dividends paid in FY2011 
amounted to 3.0 cents per ordinary 
share comprising a 1.0 cent interim 
dividend and 2.0 cents fi nal dividend.

GROSS DIVIDEND PER 
ORDINARY SHARE
CENTS
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The gross dividend yield of 5.7 per 
cent is calculated based on the 
share price of 53.0 cents as at 31 
December 2011. 

GROSS DIVIDEND PAYOUT
(%)

FY2007 FY2010 FY2011FY2009FY2008
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GROSS DIVIDEND YIELD
(%) 

We paid total dividends of 3.0 cents 
per share in FY2011 representing 
a dividend payout ratio of 33.3 per 
cent.
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Annual Report

Our Annual Report is a vital and 
important communication tool 
with stakeholders and other 
interested parties. As such, we 
take great care to ensure that it 
gives a clear and accurate picture 
of our activities during the year as 
well as our developments, policies 
and strategic direction in the near 
future. The annual report and 
accounts and the notice of AGM 
are sent to shareholders at least 
14 working days before the 
meeting. 

OKP’s annual reports have won 
numerous awards. These include:

 Best Annual Report Award 
(Gold) at SCA 2010;

 Best Annual Report Award 
(Silver) at SCA 2009;

 Best Annual Report Award 
(Gold) at the Inaugural SCA 
2006; and

 Second runner-up in the 
SESDAQ-listed companies 
category at the 30th Annual 
Report Awards 2004. 

Communicating Online

We make full use of technology to 
reach out to our shareholders and 
other stakeholders. We use an 
annual webcast to communicate 
with our investors and invite 
questions online via an Online 
Management Question-and-
Answer forum through 
Shareinvestor.com. Through this 
forum, all stakeholders and other 
interested parties are able to 
email their feedback and queries 
to OKP’s management and be 
assured of a timely response. Our 
website is regularly updated to 
provide the latest information on 
our operations and corporate 
developments.
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

FY2012
15 February Announcement of full year results for 

fi nancial year 2011

2 April Despatch of Annual Report

25 April Tenth Annual General Meeting

8 May Books Closure for Dividend 
Entitlement

28 May Proposed Payment of FY2011 Final 
Dividend (subject to Shareholders’ 
approval at AGM)

May Announcement of fi rst quarter results 
for fi nancial year 2012

July Announcement of fi rst half results for 
fi nancial year 2012

October Announcement of third quarter results 
for fi nancial year 2012

FY2011
22 February Announcement of full year results for 

fi nancial year 2010

1 April Despatch of Annual Report

20 April Ninth Annual General Meeting

6 May Books Closure for Dividend 
Entitlement

27 May Payment of FY2010 Final Dividend

9 May Announcement of fi rst quarter results 
for fi nancial year 2011

25 July Announcement of fi rst half results for 
fi nancial year 2011

25 August Payment of FY2011 Interim Dividend

24 October Announcement of third quarter results 
for fi nancial year 2011

 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Highest Price $0.5220 $0.4180 $0.5647 $0.5950 $0.6750

Lowest Price $0.1007 $0.1130 $0.1460 $0.4167 $0.5200

31 December Closing Price $0.4127 $0.1540 $0.4800 $0.5700 $0.5300
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Our Customers

At OKP, we recognise that our customers are the key to our 
success. For without them, we will not have existed for the past 
45 years and achieved what we have today. Their continued 
support and long-term association with OKP have helped us 
to sustain our business activities all these years and we look 
forward to augment these mutually-benefi cial partnerships 
further in years to come. 

COMMITTED TO MEETING OUR CUSTOMERS’ 
NEEDS

We are committed to providing our customers with a 
superior service that meets their time schedule, exceeds their 
expectations in quality, reliability and safety and that is within 
their budget. 

This service promise is emphasised to all our staff  members at 
OKP; it is one way we all work together to attain our vision to 
be a leading transport infrastructure and civil engineering 
company in Singapore, the region and beyond.

On the operational level, we achieve this by developing, training 
and encouraging our staff to support our customers to the best of 
their capabilities. We listen to our customers attentively and 
work with them to better understand their business 
requirements, and give our staff members the necessary 
autonomy and support to explore new ideas to address those 
needs. In working towards a fruitful partnership, we meet and 
engage our customers frequently to manage realistic 
expectations, iron out obstacles that may arise, and work 
towards successful completion of the projects. 

At our work sites, it is our commitment to work with our 
customers to ensure safety standards that are compliant with 
all government regulations.  Delivering a project on time and 
on budget is critical for both customers and OKP. As such, 
we work together closely with them to ensure the projects are 
completed within the stipulated contract terms.

DELIVERING ON OUR PROMISE 
TO OUR CUSTOMERS

In the highly competitive market in Singapore and the region, 
customer satisfaction becomes increasingly crucial to our 
business. When we consistently deliver on our contracts on-time, 
on-budget, and in a satisfactory way, customers develop a 
sense of trust and confi dence in us. We consider the trust and 
confi dence our customers place in us an invaluable asset. 
Indeed, for 45 years, our customers have done so, trusting us to 
deliver with the highest reliability and integrity.  

Through the years, we have developed some key indicators that 
have helped us to ensure a high level of customer service. 
These make for building and maintaining strong relationships 
with our customers in order to keep them satisfi ed. 

We aim to provide: 
 Prompt response to customers’ needs and 

in developing solutions to their problems,
 Honest and ethical business practices 

that put our customers’ interests fi rst,
 High standards of service quality and standards,
 Excellent safety standards at building 

and construction sites,
 Effective management to complete projects 

on time and within budget, and
 Results that meet customers’ 

requirements and expectations.

EXPANDING CUSTOMER BASE 

OKP’s customers come from a wide-ranging group of 
organisations in the public and private sectors, including those 
from industry sectors such as energy, utilities, transport, 
housing and town planning.

Our public sector clients include the Civil Aviation Authority 
of Singapore, Housing & Development Board, JTC 
Corporation, Land Transport Authority, National Parks Board, 
Public Utilities Board and Urban Redevelopment Authority. 
Our clients in the private sector include Exxon Mobil, Foster 
Wheeler Asia Pacifi c Pte Ltd and WorleyParsons Pte Ltd, and 
Angullia Development Pte. Ltd.. 

OKP aims to expand this list of customers as we bid for new 
projects and grow the business in Singapore and the region. 
With our strong track record and reputation for delivering 
results, we believe we will be able to do so.

WINNING CONTRACTS FROM REPEAT 
CUSTOMERS

At OKP, our customer service approach is holistic and 
characterised by long-term relationships with our customers. 
We view each customer relationship as a long-term partnership 
to be treasured and nurtured at all levels. Developing and 
building sustainable relationships with customers are the 
foundation of OKP’s success. Over the years, we have built 
strong, enduring cooperative partnerships with our customers. 
The solid relationships we enjoy with our customers and the 
repeat contracts from various customers over the years 
stand as proof of the customers’ satisfaction with OKP’s high 
service standards.  
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OKP’s  high ratio of returning customers is by no means a lucky 
coincidence. Our competitive cost position and good past 
performance are two of the most important criteria for winning 
new contracts. Many of our repeat customers put an emphasis 
on track record and experience from past projects during the 
tender evaluation process and when awarding contracts for new 
projects. In addition, we believe that the time we invest in 
nurturing and developing relationships and the focus of our staff 
in delivering high standards to our customers are also important 
ingredients in this mix.

HELPING OUR CUSTOMERS TO 
MAXIMISE THEIR EFFICIENCIES

In today’s competitive marketplace, our customers are 
frequently compelled to take decisive actions to improve 
productivity, reduce costs, and create more value in their 
businesses, often with limited resources.

As OKP continues to grow, we seek to remain true to our long-
standing aim of helping customers to maximise their effi ciencies 
by being a partner who understands and helps them to realise 
their fi nancial and operational objectives. We ensure that our 
contracts are priced accurately to refl ect market conditions. 
With our strong track record in civil engineering infrastructure 
works and as a market leader in public sector construction 
projects, we are well positioned to deliver such value-added 
services to our customers. 

above. Our Group Managing 
Director Mr Or Toh Wat with 
Madam Lo Fong Hung, a 
director of the China Sonangol 
Group.

left. Our Group Managing 
Director Mr Or Toh Wat  (back 
row, extreme left) attended a 
safety event organised by one 
of OKP’s customers.

ENGAGING OUR 
CUSTOMERS 
OUTSIDE THE 
BOARDROOM 

Besides engaging our clients 
professionally through our 
business activities, OKP 
also believes in building 
relationships with them 
outside the boardroom and 
building sites. We do this 
through social events such 
as luncheons and where 
possible and appropriate, 
we support them through 
providing sponsorships and 
organising joint events.
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Corporate 
Liquidity and 
Cash Resources

FY2011 FY2010 FY2009 FY2008 FY2007

 $000’   $000’   $000’   $000’    $000’

Group’s consolidated statement of cash fl ows      

Cash fl ows generated from operating activities  5,477  39,053  44,685  15,779  12,994 

Cash fl ows used in investing activities  (4,640)  (8,036)  (4,979)  (167)  (1,908)

Cash fl ows (used in)/generated from fi nancing activities  (8,394)  (8,264)  2,617  (5,091)  (809)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (7,557)  22,753  42,323  10,521  10,277 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the fi nancial year  95,005  72,252  29,929  19,408  9,131 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the fi nancial year  87,448  95,005  72,252  29,929  19,408 

Comprise:

Cash at bank and on hand  29,842  12,684  12,506  11,785  8,754 

Short-term bank deposits  62,682  87,390  65,235  23,625  16,109 

 92,524  100,074  77,741  35,410  24,863 

Short-term bank deposits pledged to banks  (5,076)  (5,069)  (5,489)  (5,481)  (5,455)

Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated statement of 
cash fl ows  87,448  95,005  72,252  29,929  19,408 

We maintain a strong balance sheet and cash fl ow position which enable us to explore larger projects and investments, either here 
or overseas.

We generated net cash of $5.5 million from operating activities in FY2011 as compared to $39.1 million in FY2010.  The decrease 
was due mainly to a lower net working capital outfl ow which was partially offset by higher operating profi t before working capital 
changes generated in FY2011.

Net cash of $4.6 million used in investing activities was due to the purchase of new property, plant and equipment which was 
partially offset by the proceeds received from the disposal of property, plant and equipment and interest earned from fi nancial 
assets in FY2011.

Net cash of $8.4 million used in fi nancing activities in FY2011 included repayment of fi nance lease liabilities, interest payments 
and dividend payments to shareholders amounting to $16.3 million which was partially offset by cash proceeds from the issuance 
of new shares upon the exercise of warrants.

Overall, free cash and cash equivalents stood at $87.4 million as at 31 December 2011, a decrease of $7.6 million, from $95.0 
million as at 31 December 2010. This works out to cash of 28.6 cents per share (based on 305,244,585 shares issued) as at 
31 December 2011 as compared to 35.7 cents per share (based on 265,823,335 shares issued) as at 
31 December 2010.

far left. Our property at 
2A Sungei Kadut Drive 
Singapore 729554 is used as 
a fabrication yard, workshop, 
offi ce and for the storage of 
construction materials.

left. OKP directs its 
operations from its 
headquarters at Tagore 
Building located at 
6 Tagore Drive #B1-06 
Singapore 787623.
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FY2011 FY2010 FY2009 FY2008 FY2007

 $000’   $000’   $000’   $000’    $000’

Net indebtedness      

Due within one year: 
Finance lease obligations  647  898  1,196  1,528  1,343 

Due after one year: 
Finance lease obligations  482  943  1,505  2,646  2,451 

Total debt  1,129  1,841  2,701  4,174  3,794 

The fi nance lease liabilities are secured by way of corporate guarantees issued by the Company and charges over the property, 
plant and equipment under the fi nance leases. 

The decrease in debt amount from $1.8 million as at 31 December 2010 to $1.1 million as at  31 December 2011 was due to 
repayment of fi nance lease liabilities during FY2011.

far left. OKP’s new 
offi ce building at 30 
Tagore Lane, Singapore 
787484 is currently under 
construction.  

left. OKP’s apartment 
unit at The Huntington is 
an investment property. 

Annual Report 2011

P. 55



Value Added 
Statement

FY2011 FY2010 FY2009 FY2008 FY2007
$’000 % $’000 % $’000 % $’000 % $’000 %

Revenue  109,817  139,856  129,982  101,825  124,660 

Less:Purchase of goods and services  (31,155)  (81,157)  (87,777)  (63,872)  (95,261)

Value added from operations  78,662  58,699  42,205  37,953  29,399 

Other income  1,024  887  1,462  843  1,520 

Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange  17  (157)  (49)  (200)  (225)

 1,041  730  1,413  643  1,295 

Total value added available for distribution  79,703  59,429  43,618  38,596  30,694 

Distribution:

To employees 
1. Salaries and other staff costs  29,103 37  25,396 43  21,949 50  20,182 52  12,147  40 

To government 
1. Corporate and property taxes  5,699  7  3,596  6  2,675  6  2,707  7  2,754  9 

To providers of capital 

1. Finance costs  114  151  186  193  137 

2. Dividends to shareholders  15,221  10,585  2,997  2,997  2,248 

 15,335 19  10,736 18  3,183  7  3,190  8  2,385  8 

Balance retained in the business:      

1. Depreciation and amortisation 3,056 2,819 2,461 2,251 1,947

2. Unappropriated profi ts  26,559  16,952  14,442  9,458  10,921 

3. Minority interests  (49)  (70)  (4)  73  79 

 29,566 36  19,701 32  16,899 39  11,782 30  12,947  41 

Non-production costs and income: 

1. Provision for doubtful debts (trade) – – – – – –  735  2  461  2 

2. Reversal of provision for doubtful debts 
(trade) – – – –  (1,088)  (2) – – – –

Total distribution  79,703 100  59,429 100  43,618 100  38,596 100  30,694  100 

Productivity Analysis

Number of employees  740  744  737  665  651 

Value added per employee ($’000)  108  80  59  58  47 

Value added per dollar of employment cost  2.7  2.3  2.0  1.9  2.5 

Value added per dollar of investment  in 
fi xed assets (before depreciation)  2.2  1.6  1.4  1.5  1.3 

Value added per dollar of revenue  0.7  0.4  0.3  0.4  0.2 

Total value-added created by the Group in FY2011 amounted to $79.7 million (2010: $59.6 million).     
  
In FY2011, about $29.1 million or 37% of the value-added was paid to employees in the form of salaries and wages.  $5.7 million or 
7% was paid to the government in the form of corporate and property taxes while $15.3 million or 19% was paid as dividends and 
interest to fi nancial institution.  Balance of $29.6 million was retained by the Group for its future growth.   

In FY2010, about $25.6 million or 43% of the value-added was paid to employees in the form of salaries and wages.  $3.6 million or 
6% was paid to the government in the form of corporate and property taxes while $10.7 million or 18% was paid as dividends and 
interest to fi nancial institution.  Balance of $19.7 million was retained by the Group for its future growth.    
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Sustainability 
Report

GROWING, EMPOWERING, NURTURING

As a growing organisation, OKP strives to abide by 
the principles of sustainability reporting. We adopt 
an open approach in providing information about 
our economic, environmental, social and governance 
performance.  At the core, we want to be transparent 
and accountable, and our intent is to improve internal 
processes, engage stakeholders and persuade 
investors. 

Our overarching goals are to grow our business, 
empower our people and nurture the community 
within which we function. As a company listed on 
the Singapore Exchange, we seek to carry out 
our business profi tably, with a strong commitment 
to corporate governance and judicious risk 
management. As an employer of over 700 men 
and women, we strive to develop their potential, 
empowering them to do well and in so doing, provide 
meaningful, purposeful careers that bring satisfaction.  
As a company that is involved in construction, we 
endeavour to guard and protect our environment, 
and at the same time, provide safe workplaces so 
that our people have peace of mind. As a responsible 
corporate citizen, we make every effort to engage 
and nurture the community within which we function 
so that our people are made aware that we are part 
of a wider society.

Our People  58 

Safety and Environmental Awareness  60 

Corporate Social Responsibility  62 

Risk Assessment and Management  64
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ENSURING 
OCCUPATIONAL 
HEALTH 
AND SAFETY 

Incidents of industrial 
injuries

OKP must have fi rst-rate 
safety standards at all its 
construction sites. Thus, we 
promote work safety and good 
environmental awareness 
at all times. It is key that we 
safeguard the personal safety 
of our workers and maintain 
the conditions at the sites 
properly and well.

A safe job site not only 
reduces unnecessary risks 
and exposure in a project, 
it also enhances staff 
morale and improves client 
satisfaction levels. It is OKP’s 
policy that all incidents are 
reported and monitored, and 
not just those that result 
in actual injuries. We have 
emphasised this procedure to 
all our supervisory staff and 
general workers in order to 
learn from and rectify past 
mistakes, and achieve our aim 
of zero injuries.

DEVELOPING OUR 
PEOPLE 

Our ability to attract, develop 
and retain the right people 
with the right skills to meet 
current and future project 
demands is vital to the 
success and future of our 
company. Over past years, 
OKP has invested heavily 
in the development of its 
people through extensive 
training programmes 
to provide continuous 
upgrading and knowledge.

We also have in place a 
consistent policy of improving 
our employees’ personal 
development so they can 
derive satisfaction and enjoy 
the benefi ts of working with 
us. Our human resources 
management policy provides 
a clear career path for each 
individual, a competency 
framework for each job level, 
and a performance system 
linking individual contributions, 
business objectives and 
rewards to performance.

right. Senior Site 
Manager Mr Kok Siew 
Yoong receiving his 
10-year long service 
award.

far right. Excavator 
Operator Mr Chan 
San Keong receiving 
his 20-year long 
service award.

Our people are important to us – they are the foundation of 
OKP’s success. For without them, we would not have been a 
key player in the transport infrastructure and civil engineering 
industry in Singapore and the region today. Over the past 45 
years, OKP has relied heavily on its employees to plan, manage 
and execute the various projects effectively and successfully 
and help generate the revenues and profi ts for its business 
activities.

It is therefore important for OKP to identify, recruit, 
train, develop and retain a pool of diverse, talented, 
dedicated and motivated people in our workforce 
to ensure continuing success for the company.

Our employees comprise administrative support staff, 
corporate executives, project managers, civil engineers, 
site supervisors and general construction workers.

ORIENTATING NEW STAFF 

OKP has a successful staff orientation programme which helps 
new employees to understand its culture and policies as well 
as its ethical and safety standards. Our staff orientation policy 
seeks to integrate new workers by making them aware of the 
company’s values and standards so that they too can embrace 
our culture and adapt to the company’s ways. 

This programme enables new staff to make an immediate 
contribution upon joining our company. A strong orientation 
programme contributes signifi cantly to staff retention, as it has 
been our experience that new staff members usually make the 
decision to stay with an organisation within their fi rst six months 
on the job. 

Our 
People
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Absenteeism from sickness

At OKP, we work to prevent absenteeism from sickness 
for all staff. Absence from work not only affects direct 
and indirect costs, but is also indicates a low level of job 
satisfaction and a lack of commitment to the company. 
We aim to maintain a low level of staff absenteeism by 
developing our people’s performance at work and providing 
a positive working environment. 

Being people-centric 

To maintain OKP’s position as a market leader in the public 
sector construction industry and fulfi l our mission to be the 
fi rst and preferred civil engineering contractor for various 
industries in Singapore and beyond, we need to depend 
continually on the performance and dedication of all our 
staff in and outside the construction sites. 

To become a more market-driven and people-centric 
company, we have been working towards increasing 
organisational effectiveness and simplifying communication 
structures across all levels and between the various 
business units. Regular dialogue and feedback sessions 
are held so that management and supervisory staff are in 
sync with the administrative and support staff and general 
construction workers in terms of planning and executing 
projects.  

As a people-oriented company, we have instituted many 
welfare benefi ts such as our Annual Dinner and Dance, 
Chinese New Year lunch and regular luncheons. Others 
include benefi ts such as hospitalisation insurance, transport 
allowance, subscriptions to relevant societies and various 
forms of insurance such as personal accident insurance and 
travel insurance. At OKP, we not only provide maternity leave 
but also paternity leave for all male staff.

FY’11 FY’10 FY’09

FUNCTIONAL

Management & Supervisory 
(M&S)
 Local 7% 8% 8%
 Foreign 2% 1% 1%

Finance & Administration 
(F&A)
 Local 1% 1% 1%
 Foreign 1% 1% 1%

Site Operations 
(S&O)
 Local 9% 9% 10%
 Foreign 80% 80% 79%

100% 100% 100%

YEARS OF SERVICE

More than 15 years 4% 3% 2%
10 years to 14 years 10% 8% 8%
6 years to 9 years 13% 14% 13%
3 years to 5 years 30% 27% 8%
Less than 3 years 43% 48% 69%

100% 100% 100%

EDUCATIONAL QUALIFICATION

Degree & above 9% 11% 10%
Diploma & equivalent 4% 5% 6%
“O” & “A” Level & Equivalent 3% 3% 3%
Trade Certifi cate & Equivalent 25% 26% 35%
Secondary Level & lower 59% 55% 46%

100% 100% 100%

GENDER
Male 95% 94% 95%
Female 5% 6% 5%

100% 100% 100%

Footnote:
1. M&S - Directors, fi nancial controller, managers, engineers and quantity 

surveyors 
2. F&A - Administration clerks and accounts executives
3. S&O - Site supervisors, site clerks, site inspectors, foreman, machine 

operators, general workers and drivers

left and below.
OKP staff members 
get to know each other 
better outside their work 
environment through 
company functions such as 
the Annual Dinner and 
Dance 2011.
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At OKP, ensuring work safety 
and promoting good 
environmental awareness are 
key aspects of our company’s 
culture. They are important 
components in our project 
management and operations 
at our worksites. In addition 
to safeguarding personal 
safety, they also help to 
enhance the working 
environment and morale 
of our workers and others. 

It is OKP’s policy to ensure a 
working environment that 
is risk-free, and to affi rm our 
view that accidents are 
preventable and risks are 
controllable. Maintaining and 
managing a safe working 
environment for our workers 
are therefore fundamental in 
our efforts to orchestrate 
good performances and to 
build a good reputation for 
our company.

ENSURING HIGH 
STANDARDS

We are committed to the 
highest standards of quality, 
environmental, health and 
safety performances as we 
believe these are vital to our 
overall business management, 
especially at our worksites. 
To achieve this aim, we 
make Quality, Environmental, 
Health and Safety (QEHS) an 
essential aspect of the way 
we conduct our business with 
all our clients, sub-contractors 
and suppliers. 

Safety and 
Environmental 
Awareness

Our experience indicates 
that the best results are 
generated when we empower 
our employees to address 
proactively critical issues 
that affect workplace 
performance. Following these 
principles, we work closely 
with our sub-contractors and 
suppliers towards greater 
accountability for their work 
practices.

Our QEHS Management 
System features the 
internationally recognised ISO 
9000, ISO 14000 and 
OHSAS 18000. These 
certifi cations are 
preconditions for OKP to 
preserve our status as a 
Grade A1 and A2 contractor 
in the Civil Engineering 
(CW02) category with the 
Building and Construction 
Authority. To further 
demonstrate our commitment 
to safety, both our subsidiary 
companies, Or Kim Peow 
Contractors (Pte) Ltd and 
Eng Lam Contractors Co. 
(Pte) Ltd have achieved the 
bizSAFE STAR status 
conferred by the Workplace 
Safety and Health Council 
(WSHC). This is the highest 
level awarded to enterprises 
for their commitment to 
maintaining a good Risk 
Management (RM) and 
Workplace Safety and Health 
(WSH) management system.  

above and right. Site briefi ngs 
are done every day before work 
commences.

WINNING AWARDS

Over the years, our emphasis on QEHS has borne fruit. This 
can be seen in the numerous awards OKP has received in 
recognition of our health management and occupational safety 
focus. These include:

 Certifi cate of Excellence from the Land Transport Authority 
(LTA) at the Annual Safety Award 2009 for the “Minor 
Category (Civil Contracts less than $20 million)” for the 
widening of Central Expressway from Ang Mo Kio Avenue 1 
to Ang Mo Kio Avenue 3 (Contract ER213);

 Construction Safety Award 2006 from the Housing 
& Development Board for construction of roads at Yishun 
Street 31 (between Yishun Ring Road and Yishun Avenue 6 
(Contract D/001/05);

 Certifi cate of Merit from LTA at the Annual Safety Award 
2006 for the “Major Category” for the widening of Pan-
Island Expressway from Kranji Expressway to Jalan Ahmad 
Ibrahim (Contract PE100); 

 Certifi cate of Participation from LTA at the Annual Safety 
Award 2010 for the “Major Category (Civil contracts between 
$20 million to $50 million)” for the widening of Eunos 
Link and Jalan Eunos from Airport Road to Sims Avenue 
(Contract ER194); and 

 Certifi cate of Recognition at LTA Safety Award 2011 
for Category 2 (Contracts < $120 million), recognising 
companies that have achieved more than 0.25 million 
accident-free man hours (Contract 288).
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SUSTAINING QEHS

One of OKP’s biggest challenges in the years ahead is 
to maintain these high standards in our QEHS system in 
a dynamic and rapidly changing environment.

We have made substantial and steady progress in our QEHS 
programme in our business practices to ensure that our work 
practices are environmentally-friendly and protect the safety 
and well-being of our people.   

We seek to minimise pollution levels at all our worksites so 
as to enhance the quality of life in the surroundings and 
environments in which we operate.

All these are aimed ultimately at setting the standards and 
laying the foundation for future generations of management 
and staff to carry on this excellent practice in the long term.

INSTILLING A SAFETY CULTURE

OKP remains committed to pursuing and achieving a strong 
and sound safety culture and instilling a mindset among our 
workers that encourage responsibility towards oneself and 
co-workers.

Over the years, our comprehensive construction safety 
programme has evolved and the principles and processes 
behind this programme have also been fi ne-tuned. Some of 
these include:

 A vigorous sub-contractor and supplier selection and 
approval process encompassing companies with good 
safety track records;

 Risk assessment procedures to identify, among other things, 
situations and processes that may potentially cause harm 
to people. After identifi cation is made, we will evaluate how 
likely and severe the risk will be, and then determine the 
preventive measures to put in place; and

 Field safety audits at construction worksites.

Emergency drills are 
conducted regularly at our 
worksites to ensure that 
everyone is well-prepared to 
handle any potential incidents 
such as fi res.

In addition, every construction 
team has at least one 
member who is trained in 
fi rst aid to ensure readiness 
to handle any eventualities. 
For example, if workers 
need preliminary fi rst aid 
when they are injured or 
become unwell at work, the 
trained staff can attend to 
the incident immediately. 
These fi rst aid team members 
go for continual upgrading 
courses to ensure that they 
are conversant and up to date 
with the latest procedures.

Emergency drills are 
conducted regularly at 
our worksites. This is to 
ensure that everyone is 
well-prepared to handle 
any potential incident such 
as fi res, chemical spillages 
and accidents, among other 
things.

PROVIDING 
CONTINUOUS 
TRAINING

Providing safety-related 
training and education for 
staff members is a key 
preventive action. We have 
put in place a standard 
in-house safety training 
and education programme 
directed at both new entrants 
and existing employees to 
equip them with the basic 
requirements necessary 
to carry out their various 
functions in a safe and 
competent manner. Apart 
from this, specialised and 
more detailed information and 
training are given periodically 
to site safety offi cers. This 
is to keep them updated on 
the latest trends in industrial 
safety and environmental 
regulations. 

PROMOTING A GREEN 
ENVIRONMENT

To reduce environmental 
hazards and be 
environmentally-friendly, 
OKP aims to carry out its 
daily business in a socially 
responsible way and 
contribute positively to the 
communities in which it 
operates.

At OKP, we make every effort 
to protect the environment 
through these ongoing efforts 
for all our worksites:

 Using sustainable 
construction supplies such 
as recycled materials and 
renewable resources;

 Reusing construction 
waste;

 Managing and disposing 
construction waste 
properly;

 Maintaining construction 
machinery regularly to 
minimise carbon emissions;

 Reducing and treating 
waste water from 
construction activities in 
treatment plants before 
releasing into public drains;

 Minimising water 
consumption and 
emissions;

 Saving energy; 
 Using more environment-

friendly energy sources 
where possible; and

 Using eco-friendly 
innovations such as solar 
powered devices and 
de-sanding machines 
to separate sand from 
dredging wastes. 

We are also committed to 
complying with all applicable 
environmental laws and 
regulations.
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Corporate Social 
Responsibility

As OKP aims to achieve 
sustainable business growth, 
we are conscious of our 
corporate social responsibility 
(CSR) and seek to contribute 
to the welfare of society and 
the community in which we 
operate. 

The awareness and 
implementation of CSR in 
Singapore and the region 
have been increasing over 
the past several years. 
According to Singapore 
Compact, a national society 
promoting CSR in Singapore, 
“CSR is essentially about 
businesses doing well and 
doing good at the same time. 
CSR is about the long-term 
strategy of aligning business 
strategy and operations with 
universal values to achieve 
positive and sustainable 
outcomes for customers, 
suppliers, employees, 
shareholders, communities, 
other stakeholders and as 
well as the environment”.

Through the implementation of CSR, companies can reap 
benefi ts and improve profi ts. Adopting CSR brings intangible 
benefi ts such as a good reputation for the company, high 
morale among employees and an improved performance that 
will help attract investors. Employees will also take greater 
pride in their company and this will affect productivity. 

At OKP, we are committed to promoting and implementing 
CSR. Through our annual Charities of the Year programme, 
we actively support multiple charities, offering our employees 
opportunities to be public-spirited citizens where we can do 
our bit for charity by participating in fundraising initiatives for 
specifi c causes and needs. Through the various fundraising 
events and charities, we are able to reach out to various needy 
groups within the communities that we serve.

The charities and fundraising initiatives that OKP supports 
include the following:

 Singapore Children’s Society’s 1000 Enterprises for 
Children-in-Need Project that helps, protects and nurtures 
children and youths, particularly those who are abused, 
neglected, and those from dysfunctional families; 

 Dyslexia Association of Singapore, a society with its team of 
psychologists and specialist teachers providing help to over 
1,000 dyslexic children from more than 250 schools;

 Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital, a leading voluntary 
welfare organisation running 200-bed hospital providing 
rehabilitation and geriatric care;

 Singapore Heart Foundation, which advocates heart health and 
plays a proactive role in helping heart patients and their families 
and in equipping the community with information and skills for 
better heart care;

 Community Chest, the fundraising division of the National 
Council of Social Service that raises funds for the many 
charities that it supports in aid of the disadvantaged in 
society; 

 Disabled People’s Association, a self-funded voluntary 
welfare organisation that helps people with disabilities to 
become valuable, contributing members of the society; 

 Handicaps Welfare Association, an organisation that is run 
by people with disabilities, for people with disabilities, to 
promote self-help and provide mutual support among the 
disabled in Singapore;

Our Executive Director, 
Mr Or Lay Huat Daniel, 
receiving the Sponsor 
Deed from BCA Chairman 
Mr Quek See Tiat. 
(Photo courtesy of BCA)
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In addition, OKP has teamed 
up with the Building and 
Construction Authority to 
sponsor the BCA-OKP Built 
Environment Scholarship, an 
award that will help a young 
person to pursue his or her 
tertiary education. In 2011, 
the award went to a student 
who is currently pursuing a 
Bachelor of Science (Project 
& Facilities Management) at 
the National University of 
Singapore.   

We have also sponsored 
various organisations such as 
Citizen’s Consultative 
Committees, Community 

Development Council, 
People’s Association, and 
Land Transport Authority to 
raise funds for charities 
through golf tournaments and 
other projects.

 Kidney Dialysis Foundation, a non-profi t charitable 
organisation providing subsidised dialysis treatment to 
patients who cannot afford treatment due to fi nancial 
diffi culties;

 Leukemia & Lymphoma Foundation helps pay for, either fully 
or partially, all costs related to the treatment of leukemia, 
lymphoma and similar blood-related disorders in its patients;

 Teen Challenge Singapore, an organisation that provides 
counselling, drop-in facilities for youth requiring close 
supervision, and residential care for individuals recovering 
from various forms of life-controlling problems, including 
teenage and adult drug and alcohol abusers;

 Yellow Ribbon Fund, a project to help rebuild the lives of 
ex-offenders released from the various prisons and drug 
rehabilitation centres; and

 Singapore Gymnastics, the national sports association for 
gymnastics in Singapore, where funds raised for running and 
administering its various gymnastics programmes.

above. OKP’s Charities 
of the Year programme 
saw contributions 
to various charities 
including the Singapore 
Children’s Society.

left. Our Group 
Managing Director, Mr 
Or Toh Wat, receiving 
a token of appreciation 
from Mr Heng Swee 
Keat, member of PAP 
Community Foundation 
Council Committee and 
Minister of Education.
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Risk management is an integral part of business management. At OKP, we place great emphasis on strengthening our risk 
management framework to provide reasonable assurance that risks are minimised by safeguarding the integrity of our fi nancial 
reporting, integrating management control into daily operations, and ensuring compliance with legal requirements.

We are exposed to a number of possible risks that may arise from economic, market, business, and fi nancial factors and developments. 
As such, our management has put in place various risk management policies and procedures to manage and mitigate the risks arising 
in the normal course of operations. Our risk management and mitigation plans are reviewed periodically to refl ect changes in market 
conditions and the activities of the Group. The following are the risks that we could be exposed to and how we will address them 
should they arise:

RISKS RELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY

1.  Dependence on the construction industry in Singapore

We are exposed to cyclical fl uctuations in the economy as the construction business depends largely on the health of the 
infrastructure market in Singapore. This is in turn subject to the general health of the Singapore economy. A downturn could 
dampen general sentiments in the infrastructure market and reduce construction demand. This would invariably have an adverse 
effect on our business and fi nancial performance.

The Singapore market has remained our primary source of revenue since our inception. The prevailing general economic, 
political, legal and social conditions would affect our fi nancial performance and operations. As a major part of our revenue is 
derived from public sector projects, we would be likely to benefi t from any pump-priming by the Government. The reverse is also 
true and any move by the Government to scale back on expenditure relating to road construction and maintenance could have 
a negative effect on our business.

2.  Impact from changes to applicable government policies

The services that we provide mainly relate to building safety and design standards in connection with the construction 
of infrastructure projects such as roads and expressways. Any change to the laws, regulations and policies affecting the 
construction industry, including the infrastructure market in Singapore, may affect our business and operations.

As we operate in Singapore, we are subject to the laws and regulations of the land and any change in Government regulations 
in the course of a project, for example, increasing controls over worksite safety and building standards, could result in our Group 
incurring additional costs to comply with the new regulations. As well, any changes in government regulations or policies of those 
countries where our suppliers are located may affect the supply of construction materials and cause disruptions to the operations 
of our Group. All these could have an adverse effect on our project costs and fi nancial performance.

To mitigate these risks, we would send our project staff regularly for training to keep them updated on changes in government 
regulations or policies in Singapore and other relevant countries, as well as new safety and building standards imposed by the 
regulatory authorities or clients.

3.  Guidelines and regulations by Building and Construction Authority (BCA)

We are guided and regulated by the BCA that also functions as an administrative body for tenders relating to public sector 
construction projects. The BCA grading is laid out in the BCA Contractors Registry System (CRS). There are six major groups 
of registration heads, namely, Construction Workheads (CW), Construction Related (CR) Workheads, Mechanical & Electrical 
(ME) Workheads, Maintenance Workheads (MW), Supply (SY) Workheads, and Regulatory Workheads (RW). Within each 
workhead, there are different fi nancial grades which determine a contractor’s eligibility to tender for projects of stipulated 
values.  This is based on BCA’s assessment of the fi nancial health of companies through its credit rating system. The different 
grades serve as a supplementary indicator of the fi nancial standing of construction fi rms with those of larger fi rms accorded the 
top categories of A1, A2 and B1.

Our wholly–owned subsidiary, Or Kim Peow Contractors (Pte) Ltd, is an A1–grade contractor, making it eligible for tenders of 
unlimited values. Another wholly–owned subsidiary, Eng Lam Contractors Co. (Pte) Ltd was upgraded to an A2-grade contractor 
in 2009,  making it eligible to tender for public sector construction projects with contract values of up to $85 million.

In the event that we are unable to maintain our BCA grading status, our Group would not be able to tender for public projects 
of the stipulated contract values on the CRS. This could have an adverse impact on our fi nancial performance. However, we 
have been able to maintain our position over the last several decades. We also continually review our fi nancials and take the 
necessary measures to improve our fi nancial management where necessary.

Risk Assessment 
and Management
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4. 	 Increased competition could adversely affect our competitive position

Our business is project-based and contracts are generally awarded through a tender process. The nature of our business is 
such that the number and value of projects that we succeed in securing fluctuate from year to year. There is no assurance that 
we will continue to secure new projects that are profitable. Should we fail to do so, our financial performance will be adversely 
affected. In addition, as we face increased competition in the tender process, we may be forced to lower our tender prices to 
secure projects, and this could affect our profit margins.

Although price is often a primary factor in determining whom the contract would be awarded to, other factors such as experience, 
reputation, availability, equipment and safety record are also important. Our Group believes that our expertise and experience 
in road construction and road maintenance put us in a strong position to tender competitively for both government and private 
sector projects. We have a long operating history and an excellent track record and over the years, we have demonstrated in no 
uncertain terms our ability to deliver superior quality, value-added services on time and within budget.

5. 	 Price fluctuations and availability of construction materials

We are exposed to fluctuations in the prices of construction materials, which include granite, cement, ready-mix concrete, 
asphalts and reinforced steel bars. Fluctuations in the prices of these construction materials are a function of demand and 
supply, here and overseas. In addition, changes in government policies or regulations in respect of the construction industry or 
construction materials may also result in price movements. Should there be a significant increase in the prices of construction 
materials or should the Group fail to secure the requisite supply of construction materials at reasonable price levels, our Group’s 
business and profitability will be affected.

We are continually mindful of this risk and are constantly looking for the most competitive pricing from our suppliers for the raw 
materials we require. Where possible, we would lock in the prices of the raw materials for each project. Otherwise, we would 
include a fluctuation clause in the contract, granting us the right to adjust raw material prices should a price increase occur in 
the course of the project. These moves help to limit our exposure in the event of price fluctuations.

6.	 Dependence on the performance of the property sector

In Singapore, the property development industry is very competitive, with various small to medium-sized property developers 
and a few large established players. These developers may have stronger brand names and reputations, larger land banks, more 
prime land sites and other resources, which may help them to bid higher prices for more desirable land sites, thus resulting in 
more profitable and attractive property development projects. As such, there is no assurance that our Group’s business and 
operations in property development will be sustainable in the long term.

We are also subject to various regulatory requirements and government policies in Singapore. To promote and maintain a stable 
property market, the Government monitors the property market diligently and may introduce new policies, or amend or remove 
existing policies at any time. If the Government regulates the property market with stringent measures, our operations and 
financial performance may be adversely affected. There is also no certainty that there will be demand for our projects despite 
our projections and expectations. This may affect our business objectives and sales target, thus impacting our profitability.

7. 	 General risks associated with doing business outside Singapore

As we look to expand overseas, we may explore acquisitions, joint ventures, strategic alliances or investment opportunities in 
businesses that are complementary to our businesses.

There are risks inherent in doing business outside Singapore, such as unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, 
difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, social and political instability, fluctuations in currency exchange rates, 
potentially adverse tax consequences, legal uncertainty, tariffs and other trade barriers, variable and unexpected changes in 
local laws and barriers to the repatriation of capital or profits. Any of these could materially affect our operations overseas and 
consequently, our business and profitability.

Thus, we continue to adopt a prudent and disciplined approach in the assessment of all business opportunities so as to reduce 
risks in both local and overseas operations.

Risk Assessment  
and Management cont’d
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Risk Assessment  
and Management cont’d

RISKS RELATING TO US

8.	 Dependence on private sector clientele for a portion of our revenue

Over the years, we have tapped on the private sector increasingly for more projects so as to lessen our reliance on the public 
sector. Since early 2006, we have undertaken a number of projects in the oil and gas industry in Singapore. This move sees us 
reducing our dependence on our public sector clientele but it has also increased the uncertainty over the timeliness of collection 
of trade receivables.

Our response to this is to adopt a selective approach to our potential clients – favouring those with good credit rating and 
financial stability – and to apply strict control procedures within a credit approval process. 

9. 	 Liability claims and disputes

We are exposed to potential claims against defective workmanship, non-compliance with contract specifications or disputes 
over variations. Should we fail to complete any of the projects we undertake within the stipulated timeframes, we could be held 
liable for liquidated damages. If this occurs, financial compensation may have to be paid to our customers.

With this in mind, we spare no effort to ensure that all projects are competently managed to the highest standards. One of the 
ways we do this is to provide staff with regular and relevant training. 

It is a general practice that we provide our customers with retention sums or performance bonds of up to 10 per cent of the 
contract value. In the event that projects are delayed, or if any claims for defects are made, whether or not they are due to our 
fault or that of our suppliers or sub-contractors, these retention sums or performance bonds could be forfeited or defaulted. 
We have not encountered any significant claims from customers nor have we run into any material dispute over the last three 
financial years.

10. 	Exposure to cost overruns

Controlling costs is an important aspect of our business as cost overruns could erode our profit margin for a project. Should this 
occur, our overall profitability could be affected. The following scenarios are some examples of how a cost overrun could occur: 

i. 	 When incorrect  estimations of costs are made during the tender stage;
ii. 	 When unforeseen circumstances such as adverse ground conditions, unfavourable weather conditions, or unanticipated 

construction constraints at the worksite arise during the course of construction; and/or
iii. 	 When delays are experienced in the execution of projects.

As such, cost control measures are carried out at various stages along the entire project execution stage to ensure that the 
projects are kept well within budget. Careful monitoring and quality assurance checks are also performed vigilantly to ensure 
that project management risks are alleviated as far as possible. We believe that our people have the right project management 
expertise to manage the costs related to each project effectively.

11. 	Dependence on foreign workers and exposure to labour shortages

The construction industry is highly labour-intensive and is dependent on skilled foreign workers. The supply of and demand for 
such foreign labour are dependent largely on government policies and the general economic health of the host countries.

In Singapore, the supply of foreign workers is subjected to the policies imposed by the Ministry of Manpower, as well as the 
policies of the countries in which these workers are domiciled. Changes in labour policies in these countries of origin may 
influence the supply of foreign labour and increase hiring costs, causing unnecessary disruptions to our operations and resulting 
in unwanted delays in the completion of projects. Increases in foreign workers’ levies would also affect us and may decrease 
our earnings for that period.

While we do not face big constraints in hiring foreign labour at present, we make every effort to retain those who are currently 
with us, for example, by enhancing their quality and skills through periodic training and upgrading.
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12. 	Dependence on professional and skilled labour

The construction industry is dependent on skilled and experienced engineers and project staff to ensure the efficient running 
of projects on site. If we fail to retain or face difficulties in hiring people with these competencies, our revenue and profitability 
may be adversely affected. This problem may be more critical during times when the labour market is tight.

In any event, we continually review our hiring and compensation policies to ensure fair remuneration packages are given to retain 
skilled staff and attract new recruits.

13. 	Excessive warranty claims

It is a general practice in the construction industry to provide limited warranty for construction projects, which covers defects 
and any premature wear-and-tear of the materials used. Rectification and repair works covered under such warranties would 
not be chargeable to customers.

In the event that there are disproportionate warranty claims for rectification and repair works, our financial performance would 
be adversely affected. However, with our strong focus on quality and workmanship, we have not experienced significant warranty 
claims for the past three financial years.

14. 	Financial risks

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks, namely credit risks, interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations, and 
liquidity risks. We have provided some details on how we manage these risks on pages 125 to 131 of the Annual Report (under 
the Notes to the Financial Statements).

15. 	Industry hazards, especially in the oil and gas industry

Safety is paramount for all our projects, and this is especially critical in work sites related to the oil and gas industry due to 
the nature of the operating environment. Our safety controls and guidelines follow strictly the standards, laws and regulations 
dictated by clients as well as the regulatory authorities. Our safety policy is based primarily on identifying and applying safe 
workplace practices at all work sites, for our own as well as sub-contractors’ employees. We conduct regular health and safety 
seminars to inculcate a safety culture for people at all levels, including new recruits, particularly in the first six months of 
employment. We have a pool of dedicated safety and environmental control officers, site engineers and site supervisors, who 
have the responsibility to ensure that all workers and work sites are equipped with suitable safety management procedures. 
Fire safety drills are carried out at least twice a year to ensure that our fire safety personnel are prepared at all times and in the 
event industrial accidents happen. 

We may be liable for fines and penalties if we breach workplace safety or regulatory requirements and should this come about, 
our operations and financial performance may be adversely affected. To minimise this from happening, we are committed to 
maintaining high quality standards, enhancing productivity, and improving workplace safety at all times.

16. 	Sub-contracting risks

We rely on sub-contractors to provide services for our projects, including piling, asphalt works, painting, thermoplastic 
markings, metalworks and traffic signage, landscaping and sewer works. These sub-contractors are selected based on their 
competitiveness in terms of pricing, our working experience with them and their past performance. We cannot assume that the 
services rendered by these sub-contractors will continue to be satisfactory or that they will meet our requirements for quality 
at all times.

In the event of any loss or damage which arises from the default of the sub-contractors engaged by us, we, being the main 
contractor, will nevertheless be liable for our sub-contractors’ default. Furthermore, these sub-contractors may experience 
financial or other difficulties that may affect their ability to carry out the work for which they were contracted, thus delaying the 
completion of or failing to complete our civil engineering projects or resulting in additional costs for us. Any of these factors 
would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risk Assessment  
and Management cont’d
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Corporate Governance  
Report

At OKP, we are committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance. We believe that sound 
corporate governance principles and practices will improve corporate transparency, accountability, 
performance and integrity, and at the same time protect and enhance shareholder value.  

The Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST) requires all 
listed companies to describe, in their Annual Reports, their corporate governance practices, with 
specific reference to the principles of the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance introduced in 
April 2001 and amended in 2005 (the Code).   

We have presented our corporate governance policies and practices on each of the principles of 
the Code in a tabular form, stipulating each principle and guideline, and explaining any deviations 
from the Code. The Board of Directors is pleased to confirm that the Company has adhered to 
the principles and guidelines of the Code as well as the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST where 
appropriate.

1.	 BOARD MATTERS 
	

The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principle 1:	 Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the 
company.  The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the company. 
The Board works with Management to achieve this and the Management 
remains accountable to the Board.

Our Policy and Practices:

The principal functions of the Board, apart from its statutory responsibilities, are:

	 Reviewing and approving the corporate policies, strategies, budgets and financial plans of 
the Company;

	 Monitoring financial performance, including approval of the full year and quarterly financial 
reports of the Company;

	 Approving major investment and funding decisions;
	 Reviewing the evaluation process on the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, 

financial reporting and compliance;
	 Overseeing the business and affairs of the Company, establishing the strategies and 

financial objectives to be implemented by the Management and monitoring the performance 
of the Management; and

	 Assuming responsibilities for corporate governance.

The Board is made up of one-third non-Executive Directors who are independent of the 
Management and have the appropriate core competencies and diversity of experience to enable 
them, in their collective wisdom, to contribute effectively. Every Director is expected, in the 
course of carrying out his duties, to act in good faith, provide insights and consider at all times 
the interests of the Company.

The Board oversees the management of the Company. It focuses on strategies and policies, 
with particular attention paid to growth and financial performance. It delegates the formulation 
of business policies and day-to-day management to the Executive Directors.  

The Board has established three board committees (Board Committees) to assist in the execution 
of its responsibilities. They are the Audit Committee (AC), the Remuneration Committee (RC) 
and the Nominating Committee (NC). The terms of reference and composition of each board 
committee are presented in the following sections of this Report.

Guideline 1.1 of the Code: 
The Board’s role

Guideline 1.2 of the Code: 
Directors to act in the 
interests of the Company

Guideline 1.3 of the Code: 
Disclosure on delegation of 
authority by Board to Board 
Committees
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The Board held four scheduled meetings in the financial year ended 31 December 2011. Ad hoc 
Board meetings are also held whenever the Board’s guidance or approval is required, outside of 
the scheduled Board meetings.  

The attendance of the Directors at scheduled meetings of the Board and Board Committees 
during the financial year ended 31 December 2011 is disclosed below:-

Board

Board Committees

Audit Remuneration Nominating

Number of scheduled  
meetings held 4 4 1 1

Name of Director

Mr Or Kim Peow 4 4 1 1

Mr Or Toh Wat 4 4 1 1

Mdm Ang Beng Tin 4 4 1 1

Mr Or Kiam Meng 4 4 1 1

Mr Oh Enc Nam 4 4 1 1

Mr Or Lay Huat Daniel 4 4 1 1

Dr Chen Seow Phun, John 4 4 1 1

Mr Nirumalan s/o  Kanapathi Pillai 4 4 1 1

Mr Tan Boen Eng 4 4 1 1

Dates of Board, Board Committee and annual general meetings are scheduled in advance in 
consultation with the Directors to assist them in planning their attendance. A Director who is 
unable to attend a Board meeting can still participate in the meeting via telephone conference, 
video conference or other means of similar communication. Telephonic attendance and 
conference via audio communication at Board meetings are allowed under Article 120(2) of the 
Company’s Articles of Association. 

We believe that contributions from each Director can be reflected in ways other than the reporting 
of attendances of each Director at Board and/or Board Committee meetings. A Director would 
have been appointed on the strength of his or her calibre, experience and stature, and his or her 
potential to contribute to the proper guidance of the Group and its businesses.

To focus on a Director’s attendance at formal meetings alone may lead to a narrow view of 
a Director’s contribution. It may also not do justice to his or her contribution which can be in 
many different forms, including Management’s access to him or her for guidance or exchange 
of views outside the formal environment of Board meetings. In addition, he or she may initiate 
relationships strategic to the interests of the Group.

The Company has adopted internal guidelines setting forth matters that require the Board’s 
approval. Under the guidelines, all new investments, any increase in investment in businesses 
and subsidiaries, and any divestments by any of the Group’s companies, and all commitments to 
term loans and lines of credit from banks and financial institutions by the Company require the 
approval of the Board.

Guideline 1.4 of the Code: 
Board to meet regularly

Guideline 1.5 of the Code: 
Matters requiring Board 
approval
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Every Executive Director receives appropriate training to develop individual skills in order to 
discharge his or her duties. The Group also provides extensive information about its history, 
mission and values to the Directors. The Directors may, at any time, visit the Group’s construction 
sites in order to gain a better understanding of business operations. There are also update 
sessions to inform the Directors on new legislations and/or regulations which are relevant to 
the Group. Changes to regulations and accounting standards are monitored closely by the 
Management. To keep pace with regulatory changes, where these changes have an important 
bearing on the Company’s or Directors’ disclosure obligations, Directors are briefed at Board 
meetings.

Newly-appointed Directors will be briefed on the business and organisation structure of the 
Group and its strategic plans and objectives. All Directors are appointed to the Board by way 
of a formal letter of appointment or service agreement setting out the scope of their duties and 
obligations.

Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2:	 There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is 
able to exercise objective judgement on corporate affairs independently, in 
particular, from Management. No individual or small group of individuals 
should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision-making.

	
Our Policy and Practices:

Currently, the Board consists of nine Directors of whom three are considered independent by 
the Board. There is a strong independent element on the Board, with independent Directors 
constituting one-third of the Board. This enables the Management to benefit from their external, 
diverse and objective perspective of issues that are brought before the Board. It also allows the 
Board to interact and work with the Management through a constructive exchange of ideas and 
views to shape the strategic process.

The independence of each Director is reviewed by the NC on an annual basis. Annually, each 
independent Director is required to complete a checklist to confirm his/her independence. The 
checklist is drawn up based on the guidelines provided in the Code. The NC adopts the Code’s 
definition of what constitutes an independent Director in its review. One of the Directors, Mr 
Nirumalan s/o V Kanapathi Pillai is the Senior Director of Global Law Alliance LLC (incorporating 
Niru & Co) which provides legal and professional services to the Group. The NC is of the view 
that the business relationship with Global Law Alliance LLC will not interfere with the exercise of 
independent judgement by Mr Pillai in his role as an Independent Director as matters involving 
the Group are usually handled by the other directors of Global Law Alliance LLC.

The Board has examined its size and is of the view that it is an appropriate size for effective 
decision-making, taking into account the scope and nature of the operations of the Company. 
The NC is of the view that no individual or small group of individuals dominate the Board’s 
decision-making process.

Note:
(1)   According to the Code, an “independent” Director is defined as one who has no relationship with the Company, its 

related companies or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the 
Director’s independent business judgement with a view to the best interests of the Company.

Guidelines 1.6 and 1.8 of the 
Code: Directors to receive 
appropriate training

Guideline 1.7 of the Code: 
Formal letter to be provided 
to Directors setting out their 
duties

Guideline 2.1 of the Code: 
One-third of directors to be 
independent

Guideline 2.2 of the Code: 
Disclosure of Director’s 
relationship

Guideline 2.3 of the Code: 
Board to determine its 
appropriate size
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The Board comprises businessmen with vast business or management experience, industry 
knowledge, strategic planning experience and includes professionals with financial, accounting 
and legal backgrounds. Profiles of the Directors are found in the “Board of Directors” section of 
the Annual Report. The NC is of the view that the current Board comprises persons who, as a 
group, provide capabilities required for the Board to be effective. 

Save that the Independent Directors met once with the external auditors without the presence 
of the Management, the Independent Directors did not meet amongst themselves during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2011 without the presence of the Management as they did 
not deem it necessary.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3:	 There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company 
– the working of the Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s 
business – which will ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no 
one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

Our Policy and Practices:

The Company believes that a distinctive separation of responsibilities between the Group’s 
Chairman (Group Chairman) and the Group’s Managing Director (Group MD) will ensure an 
appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for 
independent decision-making. The posts of Group Chairman and Group MD are held by Mr Or 
Kim Peow and Mr Or Toh Wat respectively. Mr Or Toh Wat is the son of Mr Or Kim Peow. Both 
are Executive Directors. 

As Group Chairman, Mr Or Kim Peow is primarily responsible for overseeing the overall 
management and strategic development of the Group. His responsibilities include:
	 Determining the Group’s strategies;
	 Promoting high standards of corporate governance;
	 Ensuring effective succession planning for all key positions within the Group;
	 Scheduling of meetings (with the assistance of the Company Secretary) to enable the Board 

to perform its duties responsibly while not interfering with the flow of the Group’s operations;
	 Setting the meeting agenda (in consultation with the Group MD);
	 Assisting in ensuring the Group’s compliance with the Code;
	 Ensuring that Board meetings are held when necessary; and
	 Reviewing relevant board papers before they are presented to the Board.

As Group MD, Mr Or Toh Wat is responsible for effectively managing and supervising the day-to-
day business operations in accordance with the strategies, policies and business plans approved 
by the Board. Mr Or Toh Wat executes the strategic plans set out by the Board and ensures 
that the Directors are kept updated and informed of the Group’s businesses. His responsibilities 
include:
	 Executing and developing the Group’s strategies and business objectives;
	 Reporting to the Board on all aspects of the Group’s operations and performance;  
	 Providing quality leadership and guidance to employees of the Group; and
	 Managing and cultivating good relationship and effective communication with the media, 

shareholders, regulators and the public.

Guideline 2.4 of the Code: 
Board to comprise Directors 
with core competencies

Guidelines 2.5 and 2.6 of the 
Code: Role of non-executive 
directors and regular 
meetings of non-executive  
directors

Guideline 3.1 of the Code: 
Chairman and CEO should be 
separate persons

Guideline 3.2 of the Code: 
Chairman’s role
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Both the Group Chairman and the Group MD exercise control over the quality, quantity and 
timeliness of information flow between the Board and the Management.

The Board appointed Dr Chen Seow Phun, John as Lead Independent Director (LID) on  
1 August 2006 to lead and coordinate the activities of the Independent Directors. The LID 
aids the Independent Directors to constructively challenge and assist in the development of 
proposals on strategy, review the performance of the Management in meeting agreed goals and 
objectives, and monitor the reporting of performance. The LID also coordinates sessions for the 
Independent Directors to meet. The LID is available to shareholders where they have concerns 
for which contact through the normal channels of the Group Chairman or Group MD has failed 
to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.

Board Membership 

Principle 4:	 There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new 
directors to the Board.  

Our Policy and Practices:

The NC was formed on 10 July 2002 and now comprises Mr Tan Boen Eng, Dr Chen Seow Phun, 
John, and Mr Nirumalan s/o V Kanapathi Pillai, all of whom are non-Executive and Independent 
Directors. The Chairman of the NC is Mr Tan Boen Eng. Mr Tan is not a substantial shareholder 
nor is he associated with a substantial shareholder of the Company, thus complying with the 
requirement in Guideline 4.1 of the Code.
		
The main terms of reference of the NC are as follows:

	 To review nominations for the appointment and re-appointment to the Board and the various 
Board Committees;

	 To decide on how the Board’s performance may be evaluated, and propose objective 
performance criteria to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution 
of each Director;

	 To decide, where a Director has multiple board representations, whether the Director is able 
to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as Director of the Company;

	 To ensure that all Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular 
intervals and at least once every three years; and

	 To determine on an annual basis whether or not a Director is independent.

The NC is charged with the responsibility of re-nominating the Directors. Pursuant to Article 
107 of the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors (except the Group 
MD) shall retire from office at least once every three years at the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting (AGM). In addition, Article 109 provides that the retiring Directors are eligible to offer 
themselves for re-election. Directors of over 70 years of age are required to be re-elected every 
year at the AGM under Section 153(6) of the Companies Act before they can continue to act 
as a Director. Article 112 provides that each term of appointment of the Group MD shall not 
exceed five years. 

The NC is also charged with determining annually whether or not a Director is independent. 
Annually, each Independent Director is required to complete a checklist to confirm his 
independence. The checklist is drawn up based on the guidelines provided in the Code. The NC 
is of the view that the non-Executive Directors are independent.

Guideline 3.3 of the Code: 
Appointment of LID where 
Chairman and CEO are 
Executives

Guideline 4.1 of the Code: 
NC to recommend all Board 
appointments

Guideline 4.2 of the Code: 
NC responsible for re-
nomination of Directors

Guideline 4.3 of the Code: 
NC to determine Directors’ 
independence annually
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When a Director has multiple board representations, the NC also considers whether or not the 
Director is able to and has adequately carried out his duties as a Director of the Company. The 
NC is satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the Directors to the affairs of 
the Company, notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board representations.

When the need for a new Director arises, or where it is considered that the Board would benefit 
from the services of a new Director with particular skills or to replace a retiring Director, the 
NC, in consultation with the Board, determines the selection criteria and selects candidates 
with the appropriate expertise and experience for the position. In its search and nomination 
process for new Directors, the NC has, at its disposal, search companies, personal contacts and 
recommendations for the right candidates.

Information in respect of the academic and professional qualification, and directorship or 
chairmanship, both present and those held over the preceding three years in other listed 
companies, is set out in the “Board of Directors” section of the Annual Report. In addition, 
information on shareholdings in the Company held by each Director is set out in the “Directors’ 
Report” section of the Annual Report.

The dates of initial appointment and last re-election of each of the Directors are set out below:

Name Age Position
Date of initial 

appointment
Date of last  
re-election

Mr Or Kim Peow 77 Group Chairman 15 February 2002 20 April 2011

Mr Or Toh Wat 44
Group Managing 
Director 15 February 2002 Not Applicable

Mdm Ang Beng Tin 56 Executive Director 20 March 2002 20 April 2009

Mr Or Kiam Meng 47 Executive Director 20 March 2002 20 April 2011

Mr Oh Enc Nam 56 Executive Director 20 March 2002 21 April 2010

Mr Or Lay Huat 
Daniel 34 Executive Director 1 August 2006 21 April 2010

Dr Chen Seow 
Phun, John 58

Lead Independent 
Director 25 June 2002 20 April 2011

Mr Nirumalan s/o  
V Kanapathi Pillai 59

Independent 
Director 1 June 2005 20 April 2009

Mr Tan Boen Eng 79
Independent 
Director 25 June 2002 20 April 2011

Board Performance

Principle 5:	 There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

Our Policy and Practices:

We believe that the Board’s performance is ultimately reflected in the performance of the 
Company.  The Board should ensure compliance with applicable laws and Board members 
should act in good faith, with due diligence and care in the best interests of the Company 
and its shareholders. In addition to these fiduciary duties, the Board is charged with two key 
responsibilities: setting strategic directions and ensuring that the Company is ably led and 
managed. The Board’s performance is also tested through its ability to lend support to the 
Management, especially in times of crisis and to steer the Group in the right direction.

Guideline 4.4 of the 
Code: Ensure Directors 
with multiple board 
representations give 
sufficient time and attention 
to the Company

Guideline 4.5 of the Code: 
Description of process for 
selection and appointment of 
new Directors to be disclosed

Guideline 4.6 of the Code: 
Key information regarding 
directors
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Based on the recommendations of the NC, the Board has established processes and objective 
performance criteria for evaluating the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the 
effectiveness of individual Directors.  

(a)  	Evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole
	 The NC assesses the Board’s effectiveness as a whole by completing a Board Assessment 

Checklist. The Board Assessment Checklist takes into consideration factors such as the 
Board’s structure, conduct of meetings, risk management and internal control, and the 
Board’s relationship with the Management. The NC also assesses the Board’s performance 
based on a set of quantitative criteria and financial performance indicators as well as share 
price performance. The selected performance criteria will not change from year to year 
unless they are deemed necessary and the Board is able to justify the changes.

(b)  	Evaluation of the effectiveness of individual Directors
		 At the end of each financial year, the NC will evaluate the performance of each Director. 

The criteria include the level of participation in the Company such as his commitment of 
time to the Board and Board Committee meetings and his performance of tasks delegated 
to him.

The NC is of the view that the primary objective of the assessment exercise is to create a 
platform for the Board members to encourage exchange of feedback on the Board’s strengths 
and shortcomings with a view to strengthening the effectiveness of the Board as a whole. The 
NC met once and conducted its assessment in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 
2011.

Access to Information

Principle 6:	 In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided 
with complete, adequate and timely information prior to board meetings and 
on an on-going basis.

Our Policy and Practices:

We believe that the Board should be provided with timely and complete information prior to 
Board meetings and as and when the need arises. The Management has provided members 
of the Board with quarterly management accounts, as well as relevant background information 
relating to the matters that were discussed at the Board meetings. Detailed board papers 
are sent out to the Directors before the scheduled meetings so that the Directors may better 
understand the issues beforehand, allowing for more time at such meetings for questions that 
Directors may have. However, sensitive matters may be tabled at the meeting itself or discussed 
without any papers being distributed. All the Independent Directors have unrestricted access to 
the Company’s senior management via telephone, e-mail and meetings.

Directors have separate and independent access to the Company Secretary. The role of the 
Company Secretary is clearly defined and includes responsibility for ensuring that the Board’s 
procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The Company 
Secretary administers, attends and prepares minutes of all board meetings and assists the 
Board in ensuring that the Company complies with the relevant requirements of the Companies 
Act and the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. He is also the channel of communications between 
the Company and the SGX-ST. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary are 
subject to the approval of the Board as a whole.

Each member of the Board has direct access to the Group’s independent professional advisors 
as and when necessary to enable each member to discharge his responsibility effectively. Any 
cost of obtaining professional advice will be borne by the Company.

Corporate Governance  
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Guideline 5.1 of the Code: 
Board to implement 
process to address Board’s 
performance and disclose 
the process in Annual Report

Guidelines 5.2, 5.3, 5.4 and 
5.5 of the Code: Evaluation 
of Board’s performance 
criteria

Guidelines 6.1 and 6.2 
of the Code: Board 
should have separate and 
independent access to senior 
management;   Management 
obliged to provide Board 
with adequate and timely 
information and include 
background and explanatory 
information

Guidelines 6.3 and 6.4 of the 
Code: Directors should have 
separate and independent 
access to Company 
Secretary; role of Company 
Secretary to be clearly 
defined and appointment 
and removal of Company 
Secretary should be a matter 
for the Board as a whole

Guideline 6.5 of the Code: 
Procedure for Board to take 
independent professional 
advice at company’s cost
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2.	 REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 7:	 There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on 
executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual 
directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Our Policy and Practices:

We believe that a framework of remuneration for the Board and key executives should be linked, 
among other things, to the development of the Management’s and key executives’ strengths 
to ensure that there is a continual development of talent and renewal of strong and sound 
leadership for the continued success of the Company.

The RC was formed on 10 July 2002 and comprises entirely Independent Directors, namely:

Mr Nirumalan s/o V Kanapathi Pillai (Chairman)
Dr Chen Seow Phun, John (Member)
Mr Tan Boen Eng (Member)

None of the RC members or Directors is involved in deliberations in respect of any remuneration, 
compensation or any form of benefit to be granted to him.

The RC recommends to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Board and key executives 
to ensure that the structure is competitive and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate senior 
management to run the Company successfully in order to maximise shareholder value. The 
members of the RC do not participate in any decisions concerning their own remuneration.

The main terms of reference of the RC are as follows:

	 To recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for Board members and key 
executives which covers all aspects of remuneration including directors’ fees, salaries, 
allowances, bonuses and benefits-in-kind;

	 To determine specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director;
	 To determine the appropriateness of the remuneration of non-Executive Directors taking 

into consideration the level of their contribution;
	 To review and recommend to the Board the terms of renewal of the service agreements of 

Executive Directors; and
	 To consider the disclosure requirements for Directors’ and key executives’ remuneration as 

required by the SGX-ST.

The RC members are familiar with executive compensation matters as they manage their own 
businesses and/or are holding directorships in the boards of other listed companies. The RC has 
access to appropriate external expert advice in the field of executive compensation if necessary.

Guideline 7.1 of the Code: RC 
to consist of entirely non-
executive  Directors

Guideline 7.2 of the Code: RC 
to recommend remuneration 
of Directors and CEO, and 
review remuneration of senior 
management

Guideline 7.3 of the Code: 
RC to seek expert advice
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Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 8:	 The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate 
the directors needed to run the company successfully but companies should 
avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose. A significant proportion 
of executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards 
to corporate and individual performance.

Our Policy and Practices:

The Company has a staff remuneration policy which comprises a fixed component and a 
variable component. The fixed component comprises basic salary plus other fixed allowances. 
The variable component is linked to the performance of the Company and the individual. In the 
financial year ended 31 December 2011, variable or performance related income/bonus made 
up 59 per cent to 69 per cent of the total remuneration of each Director. The remuneration 
package is designed to enable the Company to stay competitive and allows the Company to 
better align executive compensation with shareholder value creation.

All Independent and non-Executive Directors have no service agreements with the Company. 
They are paid Directors’ fees, which are determined by the Board based on the effort, time spent 
and responsibilities of the Independent Directors. The Directors’ fees are subject to approval 
by the shareholders at each AGM. Except as disclosed, the Independent and non-Executive 
Directors do not receive any remuneration from the Company.

The RC has reviewed and approved the service agreements of all the Executive Directors in 
the financial year ended 31 December 2011. Each of the Executive Directors has a formal 
service agreement which is automatically renewed on a yearly basis. There are no excessively 
long or onerous removal clauses in these service agreements. The service agreements may be 
terminated by the Company giving the Executive Director one month’s notice in writing, or in lieu 
of notice, payment of one month’s salary based on the Executive Director’s last drawn salary. 
Executive Directors are not paid directors’ fees.

Currently, the Company does not have any long-term incentive schemes.

In setting remuneration packages, the RC ensures that the Directors are adequately but not 
excessively remunerated as compared to the employment conditions in the industry and in 
comparable companies. The Company benchmarks the Directors’ annual fixed salary at the 
market median with the variable compensation being performance driven.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 9:	 Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, 
level and mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, 
in the company’s annual report. It should provide disclosure in relation to 
its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between 
remuneration paid to directors and key executives and performance.

Our Policy and Practices:

The Board has not included a separate annual remuneration report to shareholders in the Annual 
Report on the remuneration of Directors and the top five key executives (who are not Directors 
of the Company) as the Board is of the view that the matters which are required to be disclosed 
in such annual remuneration report have already been sufficiently disclosed in this Corporate 
Governance Report and in the financial statements of the Company.

Guideline 8.1 of the Code: 
Package should align 
executive Directors’ interest 
with shareholders’ interest

Guideline 8.2 of the Code: 
Remuneration of independent 
directors dependent on 
contribution, effort, time 
spent and responsibilities

Guidelines 8.3 and 8.6 of 
the Code: Fixed appointment 
period for executive Directors 
and notice period for service 
contract to be six months or 
less

Guideline 8.4 of the Code: 
Long-term incentive schemes 
are encouraged

Guideline 8.5 of the Code: 
Remuneration comparison 
within industry

Guidelines 9.1 and 9.2 of 
the Code: Remuneration of 
Directors and top five key 
executives
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A breakdown showing the level and mix of each individual Director’s remuneration in the financial 
year ended 31 December 2011 is as follows:
	

Remuneration Band &  
Name of Director

Base/fixed 
salary*

Variable or 
performance 

related 
income/ 
bonuses

Directors’  
fees**

Directors’ 
Allowance

Benefits- 
in-kind Total

$1,250,000 to $1,499,999
Mr Or Kim Peow 34% 59% – 6% 1% 100%

$1,000,000 to $1,249,999
Mr Or Toh Wat 26% 68% – 5% 1% 100%
Mdm Ang Beng Tin 26% 68% – 5% 1% 100%
Mr Or Kiam Meng 26% 68% – 5% 1% 100%
Mr Oh Enc Nam 25% 69% – 5% 1% 100%
Mr Or Lay Huat Daniel 26% 68% – 5% 1% 100%

$250,000 to $999,999
Nil

Below $250,000
Dr Chen Seow Phun, John – – 100% – – 100%
Mr Nirumalan s/o  
V Kanapathi Pillai

– – 100% – – 100%

Mr Tan Boen Eng – – 100% – – 100%

Notes:
*	 Inclusive of allowances and Central Provident Fund contributions
**	 These fees are subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming AGM

A breakdown showing the level and mix of the top five key executives (who are not Directors of 
the Company) in the financial year ended 31 December 2011 is as follows:

Remuneration Band &  
Name of Key Executive

Base/fixed 
salary*

Variable or 
performance 

related 
income/ 
bonuses

Benefits- 
in-kind Total

$250,000 to $499,999
Mr Or Yew Whatt(1), (3) 59% 41%   – 100%

Below $250,000
Ms Ong Wei Wei 71% 24%  5% 100%
Mr Oh Kim Poy(2), (3) 63% 34%      3% 100%

Notes:

*  	 Inclusive of allowances and Central Provident Fund contributions

(1) 	 Mr Or Yew Whatt is the nephew of Mr Or Kim Peow, who is the Executive Chairman of the Company.
(2) 	 Mr Oh Kim Poy is the brother of Mr Or Kim Peow, who is the Executive Chairman of the Company.
(3) 	 Both Mr Or Yew Whatt and Mr Oh Kim Poy are directors of a subsidiary of the Company. 

There was no employee of the Company and its subsidiaries who was an immediate family 
member of a Director and whose remuneration exceeded $150,000 during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2011.  “Immediate family member” means spouse, child, adopted child, 
step-child, brother, sister and parent.

Currently, the Company does not have any employee share schemes.
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3. 	ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Accountability

Principle 10:	 The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the 
Company’s performance, position and prospects.

Our Policy and Practices:

The Board has always believed that it should conduct itself in ways that deliver maximum 
sustainable value to the shareholders. The Board promotes best practices as a means to build 
an excellent business for the shareholders. The Board is accountable to shareholders for the 
Company’s performance.

Prompt fulfilment of statutory reporting requirements is but one way to maintain the shareholders’ 
confidence and trust in the Board’s capability and integrity. The Board provides the shareholders 
with a detailed and balanced explanation and analysis of the Company’s performance, position 
and prospects on a quarterly basis. This responsibility extends to reports to regulators. Financial 
reports and other price-sensitive information are disseminated to shareholders through 
announcements via SGXNET, press releases and the Company’s website. The Board will review 
and approve the financial reports before their release. The Board will also review and approve 
any press releases concerning the Company’s financial results. The Company’s Annual Report 
is available on request and accessible on the Company’s website.

The Management currently provides the Board with appropriately detailed management 
accounts of the Group’s performance, position and prospects on a quarterly basis. Furthermore, 
the Management has been providing all the Executive Directors (who represent more than 
60 per cent of the Board) with monthly consolidated financial reports. However, such monthly 
consolidated financial reports may not always be reflective of the true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group.

Audit Committee

Principle 11:	 The Board should establish an Audit Committee (“AC”) with written terms of 
reference which clearly set out its authority and duties.

Our Policy and Practices:
	
The AC has written terms of reference that are approved by the Board and clearly set out its 
responsibilities.
	

The AC of the Company was formed on 10 July 2002 and comprises entirely Independent 
Directors, namely :

Dr Chen Seow Phun, John (Chairman)
Mr Nirumalan s/o V Kanapathi Pillai (Member)
Mr Tan Boen Eng (Member)
	
The AC carries out its functions in accordance with the Companies Act and the Code. The terms 
of reference of the AC are as follows: 

	 To review the Company’s independent auditor’s annual audit plan to ensure that the plan 
covers sufficiently in terms of audit scope in the review of the significant controls of the 
Company;

	 To review the independent auditor’s reports;
	 To review the cooperation given by the Company’s officers to the independent auditor’s;
	 To review the adequacy of the Company’s internal controls and the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal audit function;

Guideline 10.1 of the Code: 
Board’s responsibility 
to provide balanced, 
understandable assessment 
of Company’s performance 
and position on interim basis

Guideline 10.2 of the Code: 
Management should provide 
Board with management 
accounts on a monthly basis

Guideline 11 of the Code: 
Board to establish AC with 
written terms of reference

Guideline 11.1 of the Code: 
AC should comprise at least 
three directors, all non-
executive, and the majority 
of whom, including the 
Chairman, are independent

Guidelines 11.4 and 11.8 of 
the Code: Duties of AC
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	 To review the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the 
integrity of the financial statements of the Company and any formal announcements relating 
to the Company’s financial performance;

	 To review the cost effectiveness of the independent audit, and where the independent auditor 
provides non-audit services to the Company, to review the nature, extent and costs of such 
services so as to avoid an erosion of the independence and objectivity of the independent 
auditor;

	 To review the Company’s quarterly and full-year results announcements, the financial 
statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group before 
submission to the Board for approval of release of the results announcement to the SGX-ST;

	 To recommend to the Board the appointment, re-appointment or removal of the independent 
auditor and approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the independent auditor; 
and

	 To review all interested person transactions to ensure that each has been conducted on an 
arm’s length basis.

The AC members were selected based on their expertise and prior experience in the area 
of financial management. Dr Chen Seow Phun, John is a businessman. Mr Nirumalan s/o V 
Kanapathi Pillai is the Senior Director of a law firm and Mr Tan Boen Eng is a certified public 
accountant by profession. The Board is of the view that all members of the AC have accounting 
or related financial management expertise and experience to discharge their responsibilities as 
members of the committee.  

The AC is authorised to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, and has full access 
to, and cooperation of, the Management. The AC has full discretion to invite any Director or 
executive officer to attend its meetings, as well as access to reasonable resources to enable it 
to discharge its function properly. In performing its functions, the AC also reviews the assistance 
given by the Company’s officers to the independent auditors.

The AC met four times in the financial year ended 31 December 2011. Minutes of the AC 
meetings are circulated to the Directors by the Company Secretary.  

The AC has reviewed and is satisfied with the standard of the independent auditors’ work. 
The fees paid by the Company to the independent auditors for audit and non-audit services 
amounted to $110,300 and $27,650 respectively. The AC has undertaken a review of all non-
audit services provided to the Company by the independent auditors and, in the AC’s opinion, 
they would not affect the independence of the independent auditors. As such, the AC has 
confirmed the re-nomination of the independent auditors.

The Company has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual in relation 
to its independent auditors.

The AC met with the independent auditor four times for the financial year ended 31 December 
2011 including once in February 2012 without the presence of the Management. These 
meetings enable the independent auditor to raise issues encountered in the course of their 
work directly to the AC. The AC also met with the internal auditors once during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2011.

Whistle-Blowing Policy
The Company has put in place a whistle-blowing policy in December 2006 to provide 
employees with an avenue to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting 
or other matters, and the AC was satisfied that arrangements are in place for the independent 
investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

Guideline 11.2 of the Code: 
Board to ensure AC members 
are qualified

Guideline 11.3 of the Code: 
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Following the implementation of the whistle-blowing policy, a set of fraud policy which was 
reviewed by the AC and approved by the Board, was issued to assist the AC in managing 
allegations of fraud, corruption, dishonest practices or other misconduct which may be made, 
so that: 

(a)	 All cases reported are objectively investigated, treated fairly and, to the extent possible, be 
protected from reprisal;

(b)	 Appropriate remedial measures are taken where warranted; and
(c)	 Appropriate action is taken to correct the weaknesses in the existing system of internal 

processes and policies which allowed the perpetration of the fraud and/or misconduct, and 
to prevent a recurrence.  

A whistle-blower email address is created for reporting suspected fraud, corruption, dishonest 
practices or other similar matters. Details of the whistle-blowing policies and arrangements have 
been made available to all employees of the Company.

Internal Controls

Principle 12:	 The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of 
internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the company’s 
assets.

Our Policy and Practices:

We believe in the need to put in place a system of internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ 
interests and the Group’s assets, and to manage risks.

The AC acknowledges that the Group’s system of internal and operational controls has a key 
role in the identification and management of risks that are significant to the achievement of 
its business objectives. While no cost-effective internal control system can provide absolute 
assurance against loss or mis-statement, the Group’s internal controls and systems have been 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, operational controls are 
in place, business risks are suitably protected, proper accounting records are maintained and 
financial information used within the business and for publication, are reasonable and accurate. 
Procedures are in place to identify major business risks and evaluate potential financial effects. 
In addition, the AC reviews the effectiveness of internal and operational controls and risk 
management on an annual basis. 

The Company’s external and internal auditors had conducted an annual review of the effectiveness 
of the Company’s key internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls 
and risk management.  Any material non-compliance or inadequacy and the recommendation 
for improvement was reported to the AC.  A copy of the report was also issued to the relevant 
department in the Group for its follow-up action. The timely and proper implementation of all 
required corrective, preventive or improvement measures was closely monitored. The Board, with 
the concurrence of the AC, is satisfied with the adequacy of the Company’s internal controls, 
including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management systems.

Internal Audit

Principle 13:	 The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent 
of the activities it audits.

Our Policy and Practices:

The Company has outsourced its internal audit function to HLS Risk Advisory Services Pte Ltd 
during the financial year ended 31 December 2011.  The internal auditor reports directly to the 
AC.

Guideline 12.1 of the Code: 
AC to review adequacy of 
financial, operational and 
compliance controls and risk 
management policies
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The AC had reviewed and approved the internal audit plan and reviewed the results of the 
internal audit. The AC is satisfied that the internal audit work is carried out in accordance with 
the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute 
of Internal Auditors.

The Board recognises that it is responsible for maintaining a system of internal control to 
safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Company’s businesses and assets, while the 
Management is responsible for establishing and implementing the internal control procedures.  
The role of the internal auditor is to assist the AC in ensuring that the controls are effective 
and functioning as intended, to undertake investigations as directed by the AC and to conduct 
regular in-depth audits of high risk areas.

The internal auditor plans its internal audit schedules in consultation with, but independent of, 
the Management.  The audit plan is submitted to the AC for approval prior to the commencement 
of the internal audit work.

The AC reviews the activities of the internal auditors on a regular basis, including overseeing and 
monitoring the implementation of the improvements required on internal control weaknesses 
identified.  The AC is satisfied with the adequacy of the Company’s internal audit function.

4.	 COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14:	 Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with 
shareholders.

Our Policy and Practices:

The Company believes in regular and timely communication with shareholders as part of its 
organisational development to provide clear and fair disclosure of information about the Group’s 
business developments and financial performance.

The Board is mindful of the obligation to provide shareholders with information on all major 
developments that affect the Group in accordance with the SGX-ST’s Listing Rules and the 
Companies Act. Information is communicated to shareholders on a timely basis through:

	 Annual reports that are prepared and issued to all shareholders within the mandatory period;
	 SGXNET and the media;
	 The Company’s website at http://www.okph.com at which shareholders can access 

information on the Group; and
	 Online Q&A forum via the investor relations channel on financial portal at http://www.

shareinvestor.com.

The Investor Relations (“IR”) team regularly communicates with analysts or investors through 
e-mail communication and telephone to update them on the latest corporate development and 
at the same time address their queries. For details on the Group’s IR activities, please refer to 
the IR section of the Annual Report.

Principle 15:	 Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and 
allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various 
matters affecting the company.

Our Policy and Practices:

The Articles of Association allow a shareholder to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote 
in his or her place at general meetings.

Guideline 13.2 of the Code: 
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The Board notes that there should be separate resolutions at general meetings on each 
substantially separate issue and supports the Code’s principle as regards “bundling” of 
resolutions. In the event that there are resolutions which are interlinked, the Board will explain 
the reasons and material implications.

The Company strives to maintain a high standard of transparency and to promote better investor 
communications. The Board supports active shareholder participation at Annual General 
Meetings (AGMs) and Extraordinary General Meetings and views such General Meetings as 
the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend the 
AGMs to ensure a high level of accountability and to stay informed of the Group’s strategies 
and goals. The full Annual Report is available to all shareholders on the corporate website or 
upon request. Notices of General Meetings will also be published in the Business Times or other 
newspapers.

The Group Chairman, Group Managing Director, Board Members, Group Financial Controller 
and Company Secretary are in attendance at AGMs to take questions and feedback from 
shareholders. The members of the AC, NC and RC are also present at AGMs to answer 
questions relating to the work of these committees. The independent auditors, Nexia TS Public 
Accounting Corporation, are also invited to attend AGMs and will assist in addressing queries 
from shareholders relating to the conduct of audit and the preparation and content of the 
auditors’ report.

Currently, the Articles of Association limit the number of proxies for nominee companies.

5.	 SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted an Internal Code of Conduct on Dealing in the Company’s securities. 
The Code has been modelled along the rules in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST in respect of 
dealings in securities.  

Directors and all key executives are advised not to deal in the Company’s shares on short-term 
considerations or when they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information. They 
are not allowed to deal in the Company’s shares during the period commencing two weeks before 
the announcement of the Company’s quarterly results or one month before the announcement 
of the Company’s full year results, and ending on the date of the announcement of the results. 
Directors and all key executives are also reminded to be mindful of the law on insider trading and 
to ensure that their dealings in securities do not contravene the laws on insider trading under the 
Securities and Futures Act, and the Companies Act.

6.	 MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Pursuant to Rule 1207(8) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, the Company confirms that there 
were no material contracts of the Group involving the interests of any Director or controlling 
shareholder, either still subsisting at the end of financial year ended 31 December 2011 or if 
not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2010.

7.	 INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transactions with interested 
persons and has procedures established for the review and approval of the Group’s interested 
person transactions.

The AC meets quarterly to review if the Company will be entering into any interested person 
transaction.  If the Company intends to enter into an interested person transaction, the Board 
will ensure that the Company complies with the requisite rules under Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST 
Listing Manual on interested person transactions.
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There was no interested person transaction, as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual, above $100,000 entered into 
by the Group during the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

8.	 RISK MANAGEMENT AND PROCESSES

The Board reviews the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business risk as well as 
appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks within the Group’s policies and strategies. Information relating to risk 
management policies and processes are set out on pages 64 to 67 of the Annual Report.

9.	   UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS

(i)	 Placement of 13.6 million new ordinary shares at $0.16821 for each share completed in February 2007 raising net proceeds 
of $2.20 million

Use of proceeds

Amount 
allocated 

($’million)

Amount 
utilised 

($’million)

Balance 
amount 

($’million)

To fund expansion of the Group’s oil, petrochemical and gas 
related business in Singapore

2.20 1.15 1.05

The balance unutilised proceeds are deposited with a bank pending deployment.

(ii)	 Placement of 15.0 million new ordinary shares at $0.45 for each share completed in May 2009 raising net proceeds of $6.75 
million

Use of proceeds

Amount 
allocated 

($’million)

Amount 
utilised 

($’million)

Balance 
amount 

($’million)

To be used as working capital for the Company’s overseas 
business expansion

6.75 – 6.75

The balance unutilised proceeds are deposited with a bank pending deployment.

(iii)	 Issuance of 61,822,852 warrants at $0.01 completed in January 2010 raising net proceeds of $0.62 million

Use of proceeds

Amount 
allocated 

($’million)

Amount 
utilised 

($’million)

Balance 
amount 

($’million)

To be used as general working capital for the Company 0.62 0.50 0.12

The balance unutilised proceeds are deposited with a bank pending deployment.

(iv)	 Exercise of 57,953,177 warrants at $0.20 for each share as at 31 December 2011 raising net proceeds of $11.59 million

Use of proceeds

Amount 
allocated 

($’million)

Amount 
utilised 

($’million)

Balance 
amount 

($’million)

To be used as general working capital for the Company 11.59 – 11.59

The balance unutilised proceeds are deposited with a bank pending deployment
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The directors present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2011 and the balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2011.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Or Kim Peow 		
Or Toh Wat				  
Ang Beng Tin 		
Or Kiam Meng			
Oh Enc Nam				  
Or Lay Huat Daniel
Chen Seow Phun, John		
Nirumalan s/o V Kanapathi Pillai 
Tan Boen Eng			

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object was to 
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or 
any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year had any 
interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as follows:

Holdings registered
in name of director

Holdings in which director is
deemed to have an interest

As at As at As at As at As at As at
1.1.2011 31.12.2011 21.1.2012 1.1.2011 31.12.2011 21.1.2012

The Company
No. of ordinary shares 
Or Kim Peow 4,557,000 757,000 757,000 139,352,910 168,566,910 168,566,910
Or Toh Wat 2,322,000 322,000 322,000 – – –
Ang Beng Tin 2,323,500 323,500 323,500 – – –
Or Kiam Meng 2,322,000 322,000 322,000 – – –
Oh Enc Nam 833,000 133,000 133,000 – – –
Or Lay Huat Daniel 2,322,000 322,000 322,000 – – –
Chen Seow Phun, John – – – 30,000 30,000 30,000
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Directors’ interests in shares or debentures (Cont’d…)

Holdings registered
in name of director

Holdings in which director is
deemed to have an interest

As at As at As at As at As at As at
1.1.2011 31.12.2011 21.1.2012 1.1.2011 31.12.2011 21.1.2012

The Company (Cont’d…)
No. of warrants  
Or Kim Peow – – – 29,214,000 – –
Or Toh Wat – – – – – –
Ang Beng Tin – – – – – –
Or Kiam Meng – – – – – –
Oh Enc Nam – – – – – –
Or Lay Huat Daniel – – – – – –
Chen Seow Phun, John – – – 8,000 8,000 8,000

Immediate and Ultimate 
Holding Corporation 
– Or Kim Peow  
   Investments Pte. Ltd.

No. of ordinary shares 
Or Kim Peow 97,091 97,091 97,091 – – –
Or Toh Wat 58,255 58,255 58,255 – – –
Ang Beng Tin 60,272 60,272 60,272 – – –
Or Kiam Meng 58,255 58,255 58,255 – – –
Oh Enc Nam 21,436 21,436 21,436 – – –
Or Lay Huat Daniel 58,255 58,255 58,255 – – –

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act (Cap. 50) (the “Act”), Or Kim Peow is deemed to have interests in the 
shares of all the subsidiaries, at the beginning and at the end of the financial year.

Directors’ contractual benefits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract 
made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member or with a company in which 
he has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in the accompanying financial statements and in this report. 

Share options and warrants

Share options

There were no options granted during the financial year to subscribe for unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.

No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the 
Company or its subsidiaries.

As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company under option.
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Share options and warrants (Cont’d…)

Warrants

On 6 January 2010, the Company had completed a renounceable and non-underwritten rights issue of up to 61,822,852 warrants, 
at an issue price of $0.01 for each warrant, with each warrant carrying the right to subscribe for one new share at an exercise price 
of $0.20 for each new share, on the basis of one warrant for every four shares held by the entitled shareholders.  The warrants 
were subsequently listed and quoted on the Official List of the SGX-ST on 8 January 2010.

During the financial year, 39,421,250 ordinary shares of the Company were issued for cash at $0.20 each pursurant to the exercise 
of the warrants by the holders.

Share warrants outstanding as at 31 December 2011 totaled to 7,869,675 share warrants.  These may be converted into shares at 
the conversion rate of $0.20 for each ordinary share of no par value before the expiry which is on 5 January 2013.

Audit committee

The members of the Audit Committee at the end of the financial year were as follows:

Dr Chen Seow Phun, John (Chairman)
Mr Nirumalan s/o V Kanapathi Pillai 
Mr Tan Boen Eng

All members of the Audit Committee were independent and non-executive directors. 

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Act and the Code of Corporate 
Governance.

The main functions of the Audit Committee are as follows: 

•	 �To review the Company’s independent auditor’s annual audit plan to ensure that the plan covers sufficiently, in terms of audit 
scope, the review of the significant controls of the Company;

•	 �To review the independent auditor’s reports;
•	 �To review the cooperation given by the Company’s officers to the independent auditor;
•	 �To review the adequacy of the Company’s internal controls and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function;
•	 �To review the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the intergrity of the financial statements 

of the Company and any formal announcements relating to the Company’s financial performance; 
•	 �To review the cost effectiveness of the independent audit, and where the independent auditor’s provide non-audit services 

to the Company, to review the nature, extent and costs of such services so as to avoid an erosion of the independence and 
objectivity of the independent auditor;

•	 �To review the Company’s quarterly and full-year results announcements, the financial statements of the Company and 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group before submission to the Board for approval of release of the results 
announcement to the SGX-ST;

•	 �To recommend to the Board the appointment, re-appointment or removal of the independent auditor and approve the 
remuneration and terms of engagement of the independent auditor; and

•	 �To review all interested person transactions to ensure that each has been conducted on arm’s length basis. 
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The Audit Committee met with the independent auditor four times for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 including 
once in February 2012 without the presence of the Management. These meetings enable the independent auditor to raise issues 
encountered in the course of their work directly to the Audit Committee.  

In addition, the Audit Committee has, in accordance with Chapter 9 of the Singapore Exchange Listing Manual, reviewed the 
requirements for approval and disclosure of interested party transactions, reviewed the internal procedures set up by the Company 
to identify and report and, where necessary, seek approval for interested person transactions and reviewed interested person 
transactions.

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all non-audit services provided to the Company by the independent auditor and 
they would not, in the Audit Committee’s opinion, affect the independence of the auditor.

The Audit Committee has recommended that Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation be nominated for re-appointment as 
Company’s independent auditor at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

Independent auditor

The independent auditor, Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

Or Kim Peow
Director
	

Or Toh Wat
Director

27 March 2012

Directors' 
Report cont’d
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011
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In the opinion of the directors,

(a)	� the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 91 to 135 
are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 
2011 and of the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; 
and

(b)	� at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.  

On behalf of the directors

Or Kim Peow
Director
	

Or Toh Wat
Director

27 March 2012
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Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of OKP Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) set out on pages 91 to 135, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet of the Group and the balance sheet of 
the Company as at 31 December 2011, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 
and statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising and 
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary 
to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly drawn up 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2011, and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of 
the Group for the financial year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors, have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation
Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants

Director-in-charge: Kristin YS Kim
Appointed from financial year ended 31 December 2007

Singapore
27 March 2012

Independent
Auditor’s Report
to the Members of OKP Holdings Limited
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Group Company
Note 2011 2010 2011 2010

ASSETS  $  $  $  $ 

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 92,523,708 100,073,844 21,543,399 14,102,413
Trade and other receivables 5 29,433,179 28,446,214 12,949,238 15,506,266
Construction contract work-in-progress 6 2,138,017 2,681,092 – –

124,094,904 131,201,150 34,492,637 29,608,679

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 7 – – 15,674,234 15,174,234
Investments in joint ventures 8 – – – –
Investment property 9 1,650,000 1,500,000 – –
Financial assets, held-to-maturity 10 1,500,000 1,000,000 – –
Financial asset, available-for-sale 11 708,230 725,521 – –
Property, plant, and equipment 12 18,692,587 16,995,650 5,354,071 3,448,525
Intangible asset 13 1,687,551 1,687,551 – –

24,238,368    21,908,722 21,028,305 18,622,759

Total assets 148,333,272   153,109,872 55,520,942 48,231,438

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 52,975,455 78,434,958 11,089,628 8,976,037
Finance lease liabilities 15 646,992 898,300 – –
Current income tax liabilities 26 5,524,775 3,506,159 79,032 100,587

59,147,222 82,839,417 11,168,660 9,076,624

Non-current liabilities
Finance lease liabilities 15 481,695 943,165 – –
Deferred income tax liabilities 16 622,051 392,748 – –

1,103,746       1,335,913 – –
Total liabilities 60,250,472 84,175,330 11,168,660 9,076,624

NET ASSETS 88,082,304 68,934,542 44,352,282 39,154,814

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders 
of the Company

Share capital 17 36,163,238 27,884,776 36,163,238 27,884,776
Other reserves 18 28,203 448,170 38,697 432,910
Retained profits 19 52,012,260 40,673,991 8,150,347 10,837,128

88,203,701     69,006,937 44,352,282 39,154,814
Non-controlling interests (121,397) (72,395) – –
Total equity 88,082,304 68,934,542 44,352,282 39,154,814

Balance
Sheets
as at 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Group
Note 2011 2010

 $  $ 

Revenue 20 109,817,162 139,855,720
Cost of works 21 (66,606,605) (110,363,151)

Gross profit 43,210,557 29,492,569

Other income 22 1,023,828 886,820

Expenses
–	Administrative (11,926,179) (9,629,753)
–	Other (44,157) (157,698)
–	Finance 25 (113,800) (151,284)

Profit before income tax 32,150,249 20,440,654

Income tax expense 26 (5,639,881) (3,559,478)

Net Profit 26,510,368 16,881,176

Other comprehensive (losses)/income:
Financial asset, available-for-sale
–	Fair value (losses)/gains, net of tax 18 (25,754) 15,260

Total comprehensive income 26,484,614 16,896,436

Net profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 26,559,370 16,951,556
Non-controlling interests (49,002) (70,380)

26,510,368 16,881,176

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 26,533,616 16,966,816
Non-controlling interests (49,002) (70,380)

26,484,614 16,896,436

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders 
of the Company (cents per share) 27

–	Basic 9.02 6.50
–	Diluted 8.94 5.91

Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Note
Share

capital
Warrants

reserve
Fair value

reserve
Retained

profits Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
$ $ $ $ $ $ $

2011

Beginning of financial 
year 27,884,776 432,910 15,260 40,673,991 69,006,937 (72,395) 68,934,542

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – – (25,754) 26,559,370 26,533,616 (49,002) 26,484,614

Issue of shares pursuant 
to exercise of warrants 17 8,278,462 (394,213) – – 7,884,249 – 7,884,249

Dividends 28 – – – (15,221,101) (15,221,101) – (15,221,101)

End of financial year 36,163,238 38,697 (10,494) 52,012,260 88,203,701 (121,397) 88,082,304

2010

Beginning of financial 
year 23,993,071 618,229 – 34,306,979 58,918,279 596,130 59,514,409

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – – 15,260 16,951,556 16,966,816 (70,380) 16,896,436

Issue of shares pursuant 
to exercise of warrants 17 3,891,705 (185,319) – – 3,706,386 – 3,706,386

Dividends 28 – – – (10,584,544) (10,584,544) – (10,584,544)
Acquisition of non-

controlling interest in 
subsidiary – – – – – (598,145) (598,145)

End of financial year 27,884,776 432,910 15,260 40,673,991 69,006,937 (72,395) 68,934,542

Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Group 
Note 2011 2010

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net profit 26,510,368 16,881,176

Adjustments for: 
– Income tax expense 5,639,881 3,559,478
– Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,056,319 2,818,544
– Fair value gain on investment property (150,000) (300,000)
– Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (308,251) (65,886)
– Interest income (250,450) (145,937)
– Interest expense 113,800 151,284
– Unrealised currency translation loss (8,463) 37,565
Operating cash flow before working capital changes 34,603,204 22,936,224

Change in working capital
– Trade and other receivables (993,595) (1,826,245)
– Construction contract work-in-progress 543,075 (778,942)
– Trade and other payables (25,459,945) 21,345,616
Cash generated from operations 8,692,739 41,676,653

– Interest received 176,188 111,040
– Income tax paid (3,391,962) (2,736,347)
Net cash provided by operating activities 5,476,965 39,051,346

Cash flows from investing activities
– Additions to property, plant and equipment (4,784,165) (6,407,609)
– Disposal of property, plant and equipment 569,830 679,900
– Purchase of financial asset, available-for-sale – (744,700)
– Purchase of financial assets, held-to-maturity (499,504) (1,000,000)
– Acquisition of non-controlling interest in a subsidiary – (598,145)
– Interest received 74,262 34,897
Net cash used in investing activities (4,639,577) (8,035,657)

Cash flows from financing activities
– Repayment of finance lease liabilities (943,448) (1,233,740)
– Interest paid (113,800) (151,284)
– Dividends paid to equity holders of the Company (15,221,101) (10,584,544)
– Proceeds from issuance of shares 7,884,249 3,706,386
Net cash used in financing activities (8,394,100) (8,263,182)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (7,556,712) 22,752,507

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 95,004,278 72,251,771

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 4 87,447,566 95,004,278

Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

The financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 were authorised for issue in accordance 
with resolution of the Board of Directors of OKP Holdings Limited on 27 March 2012. 

1	 General information

OKP Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is listed on the Singapore Exchange and incorporated and domiciled in Singapore.  
The address of its registered office is No. 6 Tagore Drive #B1-06 Tagore Building, Singapore 787623.

The principal activities of the Company are those relating to investment holding and the provision of management services to 
its subsidiaries. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 7 to the financial statements. 

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding corporation is Or Kim Peow Investments Pte. Ltd., incorporated in Singapore.

2	 Significant accounting policies 

2.1	 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). The 
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies 
below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  It also requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3.

	I nterpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2011

On 1 January 2011, the Group adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) that are 
mandatory for application from that date.  Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in 
accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.

The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in substantial changes to the Group’s and 
Company’s accounting policies and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years.

2.2	 Group accounting

	 (i)	S ubsidiaries

	 (a)	 Consolidation

		�  Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has power to govern the financial and operating policies so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities, generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to a majority of the 
voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible 
are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.  Subsidiaries are consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-consolidated from the date on which 
control ceases.

Notes to the 
Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011
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2	 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d…)

2.2	 Group accounting (Cont’d…)

	 (i)	S ubsidiaries (Cont’d…)

	 (a)	 Consolidation  (Cont’d…)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 
transactions between group entities are eliminated.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are considered 
an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.  

Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary 
attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity holders of the Company. 
They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and balance sheet. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based 
on their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

	 (b)	 Acquisitions of businesses

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group.  

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair value of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group.  The consideration transferred 
also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing 
equity interest in the subsidiary.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.  

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, 
with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.  

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
at the date of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Please refer to the paragraph “Intangible asset - 
Goodwill” for the subsequent accounting policy on goodwill.

	 (c)	 Disposals of subsidiaries or businesses

When a change in the Group ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control over the subsidiary, 
the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are derecognised. Amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are also reclassified to profit or loss or 
transferred directly to retained profits if required by a specific Standard.  

Any retained equity interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value.  The difference between the carrying 
amount of the retained interest at the date when control is lost and its fair value is recognised in profit or 
loss.  

Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures” for the accounting policy on 
investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements of the Company.
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2	 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d…)

2.2	 Group accounting (Cont’d…)

	 (ii)	 Transactions with non-controlling interests

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control over the 
subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the Company.  Any difference between the 
change in the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received is recognised within equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company.

	 (iii)	 Joint ventures
	
	� The Group’s joint ventures are entities over which the Group has contractual arrangements to jointly share control 

over the economic activity of the entities with one or more parties.  The Group’s interest in joint ventures is 
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using proportionate consolidation.

	� Proportionate consolidation involves combining the Group’s share of the joint ventures’ income and expenses, assets 
and liabilities and cash flows of the jointly-controlled entities on a line-by-line basis with similar items in the Group’s 
financial statements. 

	� When the Group sells assets to a joint venture, the Group recognises only the portion of gains or losses on the sale 
of assets that is attributable to the interest of the other venturers. The Group recognises the full amount of any loss 
when the sale provides evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of current assets or an impairment loss.

	� When the Group purchases assets from a joint venture, it does not recognise its share of the profits of the joint 
ventures arising from the Group’s purchase of assets until it resells the assets to an independent party. However, a 
loss on the transaction is recognised immediately if the loss provides evidence of a reduction in the net realisable 
value of current assets or an impairment loss.

	� The accounting policies of joint ventures have been changed when necessary to ensure consistency with the 
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

	� Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures” for the accounting policy on 
investments in joint ventures in the separate financial statements of the Company. 

2.3	 Property, plant and equipment 
		

	 (i)	 Measurement

	 (a)	 Property, plant and equipment 

		�  Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

	 (b)	 Components of costs 

		�  The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and 
any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
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2	 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d…)

2.3	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d…)

	 (ii)	D epreciation	

	� Building under construction is not depreciated.  Depreciation on other items of property, plant and equipment is 
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives as 
follows:

					     Useful Lives	
	 Freehold properties		  50 years	
	 Leasehold property		  15 years
	 Plant and machinery		  10 years
	 Signboard			   10 years
	 Motor vehicles			  5 years
	 Office equipment		  5 - 10 years
	 Furniture and fittings		  5 - 10 years
		
	� The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, 

and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date.  The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or loss 
when the changes arise. 

	 (iii)	S ubsequent expenditure

	� Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to the 
carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance expenses are 
recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

	 (iv)	D isposal

	� On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds and its 
carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss within “Other income – net”. 

2.4	 Intangible asset

	 Goodwill on acquisitions

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses on or after 1 January 2010 represents the excess of (i) the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of 
any previous equity interest in the acquiree over (ii) the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired.

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses prior to 1 January 2010 and acquisition of joint ventures represents 
the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets acquired.

Goodwill on subsidiaries and joint ventures is recognised separately as intangible assets and carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.  

Gains and losses on the disposal of subsidiaries and joint ventures include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to 
the entity sold, except for goodwill arising from acquisitions prior to 1 January 2001. Such goodwill was adjusted against 
retained profits in the year of acquisition and is not recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

2.5	 Investment property

Investment property relates to a freehold property that is held for long-term rental yields and/or for capital appreciation. 

Investment property is initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at fair value, determined annually by independent 
professional valuers on the highest-and-best-use basis.  Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss.
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2	 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d…)

2.5	 Investment property (Cont’d…)

Investment property is subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The cost of major renovations and 
improvements is capitalised and the carrying amounts of the replaced components are recognised in profit or loss. The cost 
of maintenance, repairs and minor improvements is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised 
in profit or loss.

2.6	 Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the Company’s 
balance sheet. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, the difference between disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in profit or loss.

2.7	 Impairment of non-financial assets

	 (i)	 Goodwill
		
	� Goodwill recognised separately as an intangible asset is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is 

indication that the goodwill may be impaired.  

	� For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units 
(“CGU”) expected to benefit from synergies arising from the business combination.

	� An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of a CGU, including the goodwill, exceeds the 
recoverable amount of the CGU. The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of the CGU’s fair value less cost to 
sell and value-in-use.

	� The total impairment loss of a CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU 
and then to the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU.

	� An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised as an expense and is not reversed in a subsequent period.

	 (ii)	 Property, plant and equipment 
			I  nvestments in subsidiaries and joint ventures	

	� Property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are tested for impairment whenever 
there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets may be impaired.  

	� For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and 
the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that 
are largely independent of those from other assets.  If this is the case, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
CGU to which the asset belongs.

	� If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  

	� The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss in profit or 
loss. 

	� An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  The 
carrying amount of this asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any accumulated amortisation or depreciation) 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  

	 A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in profit or loss.
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2	 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d…)

2.8	 Financial assets
	

	 (i)	 Classification

	� The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables, held-to-maturity, and 
available-for-sale.  The classification depends on the nature of the assets and the purpose for which the assets were 
acquired.  Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and in the case of 
assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this designation at each balance sheet date.

	 (a)	 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market.  They are presented as current assets, except for those expected to be realised 
later than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are presented as non-current assets.  Loans and 
receivables are presented as “trade and other receivables” (Note 5) and “cash and cash equivalents” (Note 4) 
on the balance sheet.

	 (b)	 Financial assets, held-to-maturity

Financial assets, held-to-maturity, are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the 
Group were to sell other than an insignificant amount of financial assets, held-to-maturity, the whole category 
would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale.  They are presented as non-current assets, except for 
those maturing within 12 months after the balance sheet date which are presented as current assets.

	 (c)	 Financial asset, available-for-sale

Financial asset, available-for-sale, is a non-derivative that is either designated in this category or not 
classified in any of the other categories.  It is presented as non-current asset unless the investment matures 
or management intends to dispose of the asset within 12 months after the balance sheet date.

	 (ii)	 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date – the date on which the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 
have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. On disposal of 
a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale proceeds is recognised in profit or loss.  
Any amount in other comprehensive income relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.

	 (iii)	I nitial measurement 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs.

	 (iv)	S ubsequent measurement 

Financial asset, available-for-sale, is subsequently carried at fair value.  Loans and receivables and financial assets, 
held-to-maturity, are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Interest and dividend income on financial asset, available-for-sale, are is recognised separately in income. Changes 
in the fair values of available-for-sale debt securities (i.e. monetary items) denominated in foreign currencies are 
analysed into currency translation differences on the amortised cost of the securities and other changes; the 
currency translation differences are recognised in profit or loss and the other changes are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve, together with the related currency translation 
differences. 
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2	 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d…)

2.8	 Financial assets (Cont’d…)
	

	 (v)	I mpairment 

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such evidence exists. 

	 (a)	 Loans and receivables/financial assets, held-to-maturity
 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default or 
significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets are impaired. 

The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account which 
is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised 
against the same line item in profit or loss. 

The impairment allowance is reduced through profit or loss in a subsequent period when the amount of 
impairment loss decreases and the related decrease can be objectively measured. The carrying amount of 
the asset previously impaired is increased to the extent that the new carrying amount does not exceed the 
amortised cost had no impairment been recognised in prior periods.

	 (b)	 Financial asset, available-for-sale

		�  In addition to the objective evidence of impairment described in Note 2.8(v)(a), a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of an equity security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the financial 
asset, available-for-sale is impaired.

		�  If any evidence of impairment exists, the cumulative loss that was previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. The cumulative loss is measured as the difference 
between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayments and amortisation) and the current fair value, 
less any impairment loss previously recognised as an expense. 

2.9	 Financial guarantees

The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks for banking facilities of its subsidiaries.  These guarantees are 
financial guarantees as they require the Company to reimburse the banks if the subsidiaries fail to make principal or interest 
payments when due in accordance with the terms of their borrowings.
 
Financial guarantees are initially recognised at their fair values plus transaction costs in the Company’s balance sheet.

Financial guarantees are subsequently amortised to profit or loss over the period of the subsidiaries’ banking facilities, 
unless it is probable that the Company will reimburse the bank for an amount higher than the unamortised amount.  In this 
case, the financial guarantees shall be carried at the expected amount payable to the bank in the Company’s balance sheet.

Intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 

2.10	 Construction contracts 

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract costs are recognised 
as revenue and expenses respectively to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet date, as 
measured by surveys of work performed.  When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, 
contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable.  When it is probable 
that total construction costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
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2	 Significant accounting policies (Cont’d…)

2.10	 Construction contracts (Cont’d…)

Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations in the contract work and 
claims that can be measured reliably. A variation or a claim is recognised as contract revenue when it is probable that 
the customer will approve the variation or negotiations have reached an advanced stage such that it is probable that the 
customer will accept the claim.

At the balance sheet date, the cumulative costs incurred plus recognised profit (less recognised loss) on each contract is 
compared against the progress billings.  Where the cumulative costs incurred plus the recognised profits (less recognised 
losses) exceed progress billings, the balance is presented as due from customers on construction contracts within “trade 
and other receivables”.  Where progress billings exceed cumulative costs incurred plus recognised profit (less recognised 
losses), the balance is presented as due to customers on construction contracts within “trade and other payables”.

Progress billings not yet paid by customers and retentions by customers are included within “trade receivables”.  Advances 
received are included within “trade and other payables”.

2.11	 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

2.12	 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and over-the-counter securities 
and derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market prices used for financial 
assets are the current bid prices; the appropriate quoted market prices for financial liabilities are the current asking prices. 

The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts.

2.13	 Leases

	 (i)	 When the Group is the lessee:

	� The Group leases motor vehicles and certain plant and machinery under finance leases and land, under operating 
leases from non-related parties.

	 (a)	 Lessee - Finance leases 

		�  Leases where the Group assumes substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased 
assets are classified as finance leases. 

		�  The leased assets and the corresponding lease liabilities (net of finance charges) under finance leases are 
recognised on the balance sheet as plant and machinery and finance lease liabilities respectively, at the 
inception of the leases based on the lower of the fair value of the leased assets and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. 

		�  Each lease payment is apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding lease 
liability. The finance expense is recognised in profit or loss on a basis that reflects a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the finance lease liability.

	 (b)	 Lessee – Operating leases

		�  Leases where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the lessors are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from 
the lessors) are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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2.13	 Leases (Cont’d…)

	 (ii)	 When the Group is the lessor:

	 The Group leases investment property under operating lease to a non-related party.

	 (a)	 Lessor - Operating lease 

		�  Lease of investment property where the Group retains substantially all risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership is classified as an operating lease. Rental income from operating lease (net of any incentives given 
to the lessee) is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

		�  Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging operating lease is added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense in profit or loss over the lease term on the same 
basis as the lease income. 

2.14	 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for rendering of services in the ordinary 
course of the Group’s activities.  Revenue is presented, net of value-added tax, rebates and discounts, and after eliminating 
transactions within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and related cost can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured and when the specific criteria for each of the Group’s activities 
are met as follows:

	 (i)	 Revenue from construction contracts
		
	� Revenue from construction contracts is recognised based on the percentage of completion method as disclosed in 

Note 2.10.

	 (ii)	I nterest income

	� Interest income, including income arising from other financial instruments, is recognised using the effective interest 
method.

	 (iii)	 Rental income

	 Rental income from operating lease on investment property is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

2.15	 Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the 
tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of 
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss at the time of the transaction.
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2.15	 Income taxes (Cont’d…)

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.	

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax is measured:

(i)	� at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date; and

(ii)	� based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the balance sheet 
date, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities. 

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that the 
tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax arising from a 
business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

2.16	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is 
more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably 
estimated.

2.17	 Employee compensation

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense, unless the cost qualifies to be capitalised as an asset. 

	 (i)	D efined contribution plan

	� Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into 
separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has 
no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

	 (ii)	E mployee leave entitlement

	� Employee entitlements to annual leaves are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for 
estimated liabilities for annual leave as a result of services rendered up to the balance sheet date.

	 (iii)	 Profit sharing and bonus plan

	� The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes into 
consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognises 
a provision when contractually obliged to pay or when there is a past practice that has created a constructive 
obligation to pay.
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2.18	 Currency translation

	 (i) 	F unctional and presentation currency

	� Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial statements are 
presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.

	 (ii) 	 Transactions and balances

	� Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date are recognised in profit or loss. However, in 
the consolidated financial statements, currency translation differences arising from other currency instruments 
designated and qualifying as net investment hedges and net investment in foreign operations, are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the currency translation reserve. 

	� Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair values are determined.

	 (iii) 	 Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

	� The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows:

	 (a) 	 Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the reporting date;

	 (b)	� Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 
and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions); and 

	 (c)	 All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in the currency translation reserve.

2.19	 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Board of Directors 
whose members are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments.

2.20	 Contingent liabilities

Determination of the treatment of contingent liabilities in the financial statements is based on management’s view of the 
expected outcome of the applicable contingency.  Contingent liabilities are possible but not probable obligations whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain event not wholly within the 
control of the Group.

2.21	 Cash and cash equivalents
	
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on 
hand, deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.  
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2.22	 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new ordinary shares are 
deducted against the share capital account.

2.23	 Dividends to Company’s shareholders 

Dividends to Company’s shareholders are recognised when the dividends are approved for payments.

2.24	 Government grant 

Grants from the government are recognised as a receivable at their fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the 
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions. 

Government grants receivable are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related 
costs which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants relating to expenses are shown 
separately as other income. 

Government grant relating to expenses is deducted directly from the related expense. 

3	 Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements
		
Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

	 (i)	E stimated impairment goodwill

	� Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is indication that the goodwill may be impaired. The 
recoverable amount of goodwill and where applicable, cash-generating units, have been determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates (Note 13).

	 (ii)	D epreciation of property, plant and equipment

	� Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.  Management 
estimates the useful lives of these assets to be within 5 to 50 years.  The carrying amounts of the Group’s property, 
plant and equipment as at 31 December 2011 were $18,692,587 (2010: $16,995,650). Changes in the expected 
level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of 
these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

	
	 (iii)	 Construction contracts

The Group recognises contract revenue to the extent of contract costs incurred where it is probable those costs will 
be recoverable or based on the stage of completion method.  The stage of completion is measured by surveys of 
work performed.

Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the contract cost incurred, 
the estimated total contract revenue and contract cost, as well as the recoverability of the contracts.  Total contract 
revenue also includes an estimation of the recoverable variation works that are recoverable from the customers.  In 
making the judgement, the Group evaluates by relying on past experience. 
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Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Cash at bank and on hand 29,842,358 12,684,204 20,891,183 1,579,049
Short-term bank deposits 62,681,350 87,389,640 652,216 12,523,364

92,523,708 100,073,844 21,543,399 14,102,413
Bank deposits pledged (5,076,142) (5,069,566) – –
Cash and cash equivalents per
	 consolidated statement of cash flows 87,447,566 95,004,278 21,543,399 14,102,413

Bank deposits of $5,076,142 (2010: $5,069,566) are pledged to banks for banking facilities of certain subsidiaries. 

5	 Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Trade receivables
– Non-related parties 4,746,494 7,186,264 – –
– Subsidiaries – – 13,431,200 15,502,000

4,746,494 7,186,264 13,431,200 15,502,000
Less: Allowance for impairment of  receivables – – (531,000) (531,000)
Trade receivables – net 4,746,494 7,186,264 12,900,200 14,971,000

Construction contracts
– Due from customers (Note 6) 17,523,706 16,522,613 – –
– Retentions (Note 6) 4,810,643 3,730,840 – –

22,334,349 20,253,453 – –
Non-trade receivables
– Non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary  6,377 6,377 – –
– Subsidiaries 	 – – 1,487,107 1,599,153
– Joint venture partners 52,995 33,814 – 19,000
– Non-related parties 547,767 228,180 387 428

607,139 268,371 1,487,494 1,618,581
Less: Allowance for impairment of  receivables – – (1,459,333) (1,097,333)
Non-trade receivables – net 607,139 268,371 28,161 521,248

Deposit 1,148,703 204,661 8,250 –
Prepayments 596,494 533,465 12,627 14,018

29,433,179 28,446,214 12,949,238 15,506,266

The non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries, non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and joint venture partner are 
unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand. 
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Group
2011 2010

$ $

Construction contract work-in-progress
Beginning of financial year 2,681,092 1,902,150
Contract costs incurred 208,306,387 111,142,093
Contract expenses recognised in profit or loss (208,849,462) (110,363,151)
End of financial year 2,138,017 2,681,092

Aggregate costs incurred and profits recognised (less losses recognised) to date on 
uncompleted construction contracts 231,077,730 229,928,466

Less: Progress billings (213,554,024) (213,405,853)
17,523,706 16,522,613

Presented as:
Due from customers on construction contracts (Note 5) 17,523,706 16,522,613
Advances received on construction contract (Note 14) 2,190,089 –
Retentions on construction contracts (Note 5) 4,810,643 3,730,840

7	 Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2011 2010

$ $

Equity investments at cost
Beginning of financial year 15,448,126 14,849,981
Acquisition of non-controlling interest in a subsidiary – 598,145
Incorporation of a new subsidiary 500,000 –
End of financial year 15,948,126 15,448,126
Less: Allowance for impairment (273,892) (273,892)

15,674,234 15,174,234
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Country of Equity holding
Name of subsidiaries Principal activities incorporation 2011 2010

Held by the Company

# Or Kim  Peow Contractors 
(Pte) Ltd

Business of road and 
building construction and 
maintenance

Singapore 100% 100%

# Eng Lam Contractors Co. 
(Pte) Ltd

Business of road construction and 
maintenance

Singapore 100% 100%

# OKP Technical Management 
Pte Ltd

Provision of technical management and 
consultancy services

Singapore 100% 100%

# OKP Investments (China) 
Pte Ltd

Investment holding Singapore 100% 100%

# OKP (Oil & Gas) 
Infrastructure Pte Ltd

Business of carrying out civil engineering 
projects in respect of oil, petrochemical 
and gas related businesses in Singapore

Singapore 100% 100%

# United Pavement Specialists 
Pte Ltd

Provision of rental services and 
investment holding

Singapore 55% 55%

# OKP Land  Pte Ltd Investment holding and property 
development

Singapore 100% –

@ OKP (CNMI) Corporation Business of general construction Saipan, Commonwealth 
of the Northern 
Mariana Island

96% 96%

Held by a subsidiary

@ United Pavement Specialists 
(CNMI) Corporation

Business of general construction, 
subcontractor

Saipan, Commonwealth 
of the Northern 
Mariana Island

99% 99%

#	 Audited by Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation.

@	� Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation.  In the process of liquidation.  
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The following amounts represent the Group’s 50% share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the joint ventures 
which are included in the consolidated balance sheet and statement of comprehensive income using the line-by-line format 
of proportionate consolidation:

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Assets
– Current assets 2,717,456 496,013
Liabilities
– Current liabilities (1,941,308) –
Net Assets 776,148 496,013

Revenue 4,981,445 –
Expenses (4,667,224) (4,093)
Profit before income tax 314,221 (4,093)
Income tax (37,500) –
Net profit/(loss) 276,721 (4,093)

Operating cash inflows/(outflows), representing total cash inflows/(outflows) 163,666 (17,302)

Details of the joint ventures are as follows:

Country of Equity holding
Name of joint ventures Principal activities incorporation 2011 2010

Held by the subsidiaries

CIF-OKP Construction and Development 
Pte Ltd(a)

Inactive Singapore 50% 50%

Forte Builder Pte Ltd(b) Business of general construction Singapore 50% 50%

	 (a)	 Audited by Heng Lee Seng LLP.

	 (b)	 Audited by Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation.
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Group
2011 2010

$ $

Beginning of financial year 1,500,000 1,200,000
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss (Note 22) 150,000 300,000
End of financial year 1,650,000 1,500,000

The following amounts are recognised in profit or loss:
2011 2010

$ $

Rental income (Note 22) 44,514 41,137
Direct operating expenses arising from investment property that generated rental income (7,440) (9,913)

Details of the investment property are as follows:

Location Description Existing use Tenure Fair value
2011  2010

$  $

Moulmein Road,  Singapore Apartment unit Residential Freehold 1,650,000 1,500,000

The investment property is carried at fair value at the balance sheet date as determined by an independent professional 
valuer. Valuation is made annually based on the property’s highest-and-best-use using the Direct Market Comparison 
Method.

The investment property is leased to third party under cancellable operating lease (Note 2.13).

10	 Financial assets, held-to-maturity – non-current

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Unlisted debt securities
–	�Bonds with fixed interest of 2.22% and maturity date 

of 5 July 2013 - Singapore 1,000,000 1,000,000
–	�Bonds with fixed interest of 4.3% and maturity date  

of 9 November 2016 - Singapore      500,00 –
  1,500,000 1,000,000

The fair values of the bonds at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Bonds with fixed interest of 2.22% and maturity date of 5 July 2013 1,012,400 1,021,750
Bonds with fixed interest of 4.3% and maturity date of 9 Nov 2016 499,504 –

The fair values are based on available market or common reference prices provided by the bank. 
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Group
2011 2010

$ $

Beginning of financial year 725,521 –
Additions – 744,700
Currency translation differences 8,463 (37,565)
Fair value (losses)/gains recognised in other comprehensive income (Note 18) (25,754) 18,386
End of financial year 708,230 725,521

Financial asset, available-for-sale is analysed as follows: 

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Unlisted debt securities
– Bonds with fixed interest of 7.875% without fixed maturity 708,230 725,521

The fair value of unlisted debt securities is based on available market or common reference prices provided by the bank.

12	 Property, plant and equipment

Building
under

construction
Freehold

properties
Leasehold

property
Plant and

machinery
Motor

vehicles
Office

Equipment
Furniture

and fittings Signboard Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Group

2011
Cost
Beginning of financial 

year 3,388,189 3,040,982 3,680,257 16,387,354 8,695,078 582,332 455,288 10,450 36,239,930

Additions 1,922,000 – – 2,243,938 845,065 – 3,832 – 5,014,835

Disposals – – – (942,800) (651,020) – – – (1,593,820)

End of financial year 5,310,189 3,040,982 3,680,257 17,688,492 8,889,123 582,332 459,120 10,450 39,660,945

Accumulated 
depreciation

Beginning of financial 
year – 1,213,710 245,350 10,137,532 6,662,055 556,828 427,760 1,045 19,244,280

Depreciation charge 
	 (Note 23) – 45,487 245,351 1,752,482 995,402 7,166 9,386 1,045 3,056,319

Disposals – – – (882,040) (450,201) – – – (1,332,241)

End of financial year – 1,259,197 490,701 11,007,974 7,207,256 563,994 437,146 2,090 20,968,358

Net book value at end 
of financial year 5,310,189 1,781,785 3,189,556 6,680,518 1,681,867 18,338 21,974 8,360 18,692,587



Notes to the 
Financial Statements cont’d
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

Annual Report 2011

p. 113

12	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d…)

Building
under

construction
Freehold

properties
Leasehold

property
Plant and

machinery
Motor 

vehicles
Office

Equipment
Furniture

and fittings Signboard Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Group
2010
Cost
Beginning of financial 

year 2,224,928 3,040,982 – 16,353,278 8,178,824 574,702 443,688 – 30,816,402

Additions 1,163,261 – 3,680,257 1,121,076 787,335 7,630 11,600 10,450 6,781,609

Disposals – – – (1,087,000) (271,081) – – – (1,358,081)

End of financial year 3,388,189 3,040,982 3,680,257 16,387,354 8,695,078 582,332 455,288 10,450 36,239,930

Accumulated 
depreciation

Beginning of financial 
year – 1,173,945 – 9,093,577 5,935,866 548,581 417,834 – 17,169,803

Depreciation charge 
 (Note 23) – 39,765 245,350 1,516,941 997,270 8,247 9,926 1,045 2,818,544

Disposals – – – (472,986) (271,081) – – – (744,067)

End of financial year – 1,213,710 245,350 10,137,532 6,662,055 556,828 427,760 1,045 19,244,280

Net book value at end 
of financial year 3,388,189 1,827,272 3,434,907 6,249,822 2,033,023 25,504 27,528 9,405 16,995,650

  Building Furniture
under Motor Office and

construction vehicles equipment fittings Total
$ $ $ $ $

Company
2011
Cost
Beginning of financial year 3,388,190 148,988 18,516 13,047 3,568,741
Additions 1,922,000 – – – 1,922,000
End of financial year 5,310,190 148,988 18,516 13,047 5,490,741

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year – 109,095 5,978 5,143 120,216
Depreciation charge – 13,297 1,852 1,305 16,454
End of financial year – 122,392 7,830 6,448 136,670

Net book value at end of financial year 5,310,190 26,596 10,686 6,599 5,354,071
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  Building Furniture
under Motor Office and

construction vehicles equipment fittings Total
$ $ $ $ $

Company
2010
Cost
Beginning of financial year 2,224,929 148,988 10,886 8,247 2,393,050
Additions 1,163,261 – 7,630 4,800 1,175,691
End of financial year 3,388,190 148,988 18,516 13,047 3,568,741

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year – 95,797 4,126 3,839 103,762
Depreciation charge – 13,298 1,852 1,304 16,454
End of financial year – 109,095 5,978 5,143 120,216

Net book value at end of financial year 3,388,190 39,893 12,538 7,904 3,448,525

(i)	� As at 31 December 2011, the details of the Group and the Company’s building under construction with a freehold 
tenure are as follows: 

Group’s
effective

Expected Site Gross interest
Intended Stage of date of area floor in the

Location Description use completion completion (sq. m) area property

30 Tagore 
	 Lane, 

Singapore 
787484

4- storey
 Building Office 67% April 2012 499 998 100%

(ii)	� As at 31 December 2011, the details of the Group’s freehold and leasehold properties are as follows:

Properties/ Location Nature Purpose

Approximate
Built-in area

 (in sq. ft.) Net book value
2011 2010

$ $

No. 6 Tagore Drive #B1-05
Tagore Building
Singapore 787623 Freehold Office 2,486 838,784 858,784

No. 6 Tagore Drive #B1-06
Tagore Building
Singapore 787623 Freehold Office 2,626 943,000 968,487

2A Sungei Kadut Drive
Singapore 729554 

Leasehold Fabrication
yard/workshop

/office

55,865 3,189,556 3,434,907
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12	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d…)

(iii)	� Included within additions to the consolidated financial statements are plant and machinery, and motor vehicles 
acquired under finance leases amounting to $230,670 (2010: $115,000) and nil (2010: $259,000) respectively.

	� The carrying amount of plant and machinery, and motor vehicles held under finance leases are $1,251,119 (2010: 
$2,001,444) and $412,508 (2010: $880,876) respectively at the balance sheet date (Note 15).

(iv)	� Finance lease liabilities are secured on freehold property of the Group with carrying amount of nil (2010: 
$1,827,271) (Note 15).

13	 Intangible asset

This represents goodwill on consolidation which is the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s 
share of the identifiable net assets acquired. 

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Goodwill arising on consolidation - cost
Beginning and end of financial year 1,687,551 1,687,551

	 Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) identified according to business segments.

A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is as follows:

2011 2010
$ $

Construction 1,417,525 1,417,525
Maintenance 270,026 270,026

1,687,551 1,687,551

The recoverable amount of a CGU was determined based on value-in-use calculations.  Cash flow projections used in these 
calculations were based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period.  Cash flows beyond 
the five-year period were extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below.  The growth rates did not exceed the 
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the CGU operates.

	 Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:  

Construction Maintenance

Gross margin 38% – 40% 36% – 38%
Growth rate 5% 5%
Discount rate 12% 12%

These assumptions were used for the analysis of each CGU within the business segment. Management determined 
budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its expectations of market developments.  The average growth rates 
used were consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports. The discount rates used were pre-tax and reflected 
specific risks relating to the relevant segments.
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14	 Trade and other payables

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Trade payables
– Non-related parties 35,062,135 60,445,075 208,637 258,499
– Joint venture partner 1,888,028 – – –

36,950,163 60,445,075 208,637 258,499
Non-trade payables
– Subsidiaries – – 5,136,079 5,045,111
– Non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary 458,876 646,876 – –
– Joint venture partner 25,000 – – –

483,876 646,876 5,136,079 5,045,111
Construction contracts
– Advances received (Note 6) 2,190,089 – – –

Accrued operating expenses 13,296,310 17,206,185 5,744,912 3,672,427
Other payables 55,017 136,822 – –

52,975,455 78,434,958 11,089,628 8,976,037

The non-trade amounts due to subsidiaries, non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and joint venture partner are 
unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

15	 Finance lease liabilities

The Group leases certain plant and machinery, and motor vehicles from non-related parties under finance leases.  The lease 
agreements do not have renewal clauses but provide the Group with options to purchase the leased assets at nominal 
values at the end of the lease term.

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Minimum lease payments due:
–  Not later than one year 724,715 1,009,472 – –
–  Between one and five years 530,313 1,055,103 – –

1,255,028 2,064,575 – –
Less: Future finance charges (126,341) (223,110) – –
Present value of finance lease liabilities 1,128,687 1,841,465 – –

The present values of finance lease liabilities are analysed as follows:

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

–  Not later than one year 646,992 898,300 – –
–  Between one and five years 481,695 943,165 – –
Total 1,128,687 1,841,465 – –
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15	 Finance lease liabilities (Cont’d…)

	S ecurity granted

Finance lease liabilities of the Group are effectively secured over certain plant and machinery, and motor vehicles (Note 
12), as the legal title is retained by the lessor and will be transferred to the Group upon full settlement of the finance lease 
liabilities. The finance lease liabilities are also secured by the Company’s corporate guarantee (Note 30).

16	 Deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income tax 
assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The 
amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the balance sheet as follows:
 

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Deferred income tax assets to be recovered within one year (7,677) (88,306)
Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled after one year 629,728 481,054

622,051 392,748

Movement in deferred income tax account is as follows:
Group

2011 2010
$ $

Beginning of financial year 392,748 164,146
Tax charged to
– profit or loss (Note 26) 229,303 43,650
– equity (Note 18) – 3,126

229,303 46,776
Under provision in prior financial years (Note 26) – 181,826
End of financial year 622,051 392,748
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16	 Deferred income taxes (Cont’d…)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction) is 
as follows:

Group
Accelerated Fair Provisions

tax value and
depreciation gain allowances Total

$ $ $ $

2011
Beginning of financial year 477,928 3,126 (88,306) 392,748
Tax charged to profit or loss (Note 26) 229,303 – – 229,303
End of financial year 707,231 3,126 (88,306) 622,051

2010
Beginning of financial year 297,759 – (133,613) 164,146
Tax charged to
– profit or loss (Note 26) 43,650 – – 43,650
– equity (Note 18) – 3,126 – 3,126

43,650 3,126 – 46,776
Under provision in prior financial years 136,519 – 45,307 181,826
End of financial year 477,928 3,126 (88,306) 392,748

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of $748,490 (2010: $700,475) at the balance sheet date which can be carried 
forward and used to offset against future taxable income subject to meeting certain statutory requirements by those 
companies with unrecognised tax losses in Singapore. The tax losses have no expiry date.

17	 Share capital

No. of
ordinary

shares Amount
$

Group and Company

2011
Beginning of financial year 265,823,335 27,884,776
Issue of new shares 39,421,250 8,278,462
End of financial year 305,244,585 36,163,238

2010

Beginning of financial year 247,291,408 23,993,071

Issue of new shares 18,531,927 3,891,705

End of financial year 265,823,335 27,884,776

All issued ordinary shares are fully paid.  There is no par value for these ordinary shares.

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as and when declared by the Company. 

During the year, the Company issued 39,421,250 ordinary shares at $0.20 per share upon the exercise of 39,421,250 
warrants with an exercise price of $0.01 for each warrant (Note 18). The newly issued shares ranked pari passu in all 
respects with the previously issued shares.
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18	 Other reserves

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

(a)	 Composition:
Warrants reserve 38,697 432,910 38,697 432,910
Fair value reserve (10,494) 15,260 – –

28,203 448,170 38,697 432,910

	 (b)	 Movements:

(i)	 Warrants reserve

Group and Company
2011 2010

$ $

Beginning of financial year 432,910 618,229
Warrants exercised (Note 17) (394,213) (185,319)
End of financial year 38,697 432,910

On 6 January 2010, the Company had completed a renounceable and non-underwritten rights issue of up to 
61,822,852 warrants, at an issue price of $0.01 for each warrant, with each warrant carrying the right to subscribe 
for one new share at an exercise price of $0.20 for each new share, on the basis of one warrant for every four 
shares held by the entitled shareholders.  The warrants will expire on 5 January 2013.  The warrants were 
subsequently listed and quoted on the Official List of the SGX-ST on 8 January 2010.

Share warrants outstanding as at 31 December 2011 totaled 3,869,675 (2010: 43,290,925) share warrants. These 
may be converted into shares at the conversion rate of $0.20 for each ordinary share of no par value before the 
expiry which is on 5 January 2013.

(ii)	 Fair value reserve

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Beginning of financial year 15,260 – – –
Financial asset, available-for-sale
– Fair value (losses)/gains (Note 11) (25,754) 18,386 – –
– Tax on fair value changes (Note 16) – (3,126) – –

(25,754) 15,260
End of financial year (10,494) 15,260 – –

	 Other reserves are non-distributable.
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19	 Retained profits

(a)	 Retained profits of the Group and the Company are distributable.

(b)	 Movement in retained profits for the Company is as follows:

Company
2011 2010

$ $

Beginning of financial year 10,837,128 8,758,508
Net profit 12,534,320 12,663,164
Dividends paid (Note 28) (15,221,101) (10,584,544)
End of financial year 8,150,347 10,837,128

20	 Revenue

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Revenue from construction 90,226,284 115,977,114
Revenue from maintenance 19,590,878 23,878,606

109,817,162 139,855,720

21	 Cost of works

Included in the cost of works are the following:

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,671,878 2,467,774
Employee compensation costs:
– Salaries and bonuses 17,368,244 16,492,399
– Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans
     including Central Provident Fund 2,110,582 1,892,138
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22	 Other income – net

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Interest income 
– bank deposits 176,188 111,040
– financial assets, held-to-maturity 21,165 11,921
– financial asset, available-for-sale 53,097 22,976

250,450 145,937
Rental income
– investment property (Note 9) 44,514 41,137
– machinery 23,834 45,627
 68,348 86,764

Fair value gain on investment property (Note 9) 150,000 300,000
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 308,251 65,886
Government grant 140,092 –
Other 106,687 288,233

1,023,828 886,820

The Group received grants awarded from Building and Construction Authority (“BCA”) upon attainment of membership 
during the financial year. Funds received from BCA includes that for workforce development, technology adoption, capability 
development, which aims to improve productivity and capability of the Group.

23	 Expenses by nature

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Fees paid/payable to auditor of the Company for:
– audit services 110,300 100,700
– non-audit services 27,650 19,400
Purchases of materials 24,655,413 13,765,406
Sub-contractors’ cost 9,363,554 66,667,589
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 3,056,319 2,818,544
Employees compensation (Note 24) 29,102,238 25,396,414
Professional fees 3,041,286 2,463,405
Property tax 69,530 36,300
Worksite expenses 1,609,667 1,331,280
Rental expenses on operating lease 1,720,121 1,618,350
Other expenses 5,820,863 5,933,214
Total cost of works, administrative and other expenses 78,576,941 120,150,602
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24	 Employee compensation

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Salaries and bonuses 26,774,042 23,400,522

Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans including Central Provident Fund 2,328,196 2,088,746
Government Grant – Jobs credit scheme – (92,854)

29,102,238 25,396,414

The Jobs credit scheme is a cash grant introduced in the Singapore Budget 2009 to help businesses preserve jobs in the 
economic downturn. The amount an employer can receive depends on the fulfillment of certain conditions under the scheme. 

25	 Finance expenses

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Interest expense
– Finance lease liabilities 113,800 151,284

26	 Income taxes

	 (a)	I ncome tax expense

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Tax expense attributable to profit is made up of:
–	Profit from current financial year:
	 –	Current income tax - Singapore 5,399,500 3,414,000
	 –	Deferred income tax (Note 16) 229,303 43,650

5,628,803 3,457,650
–	Under/(over) provision of income tax in prior financial years:  
	 –	Current income tax 11,078 (79,998)
	 –	Deferred income tax (Note 16) – 181,826

5,639,881 3,559,478
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26	 Income taxes (Cont’d…)

	 (a)	I ncome tax expense (Cont’d…)

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the Singapore 
standard rate of income tax is as follows: 

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Profit before income tax 32,150,249 20,440,654

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 17% (2010: 17%) 5,465,542 3,474,911
Effects of:
   – tax exemption (90,738) (77,775)
   – income not subject to tax (157,432) (85,777)
   – expenses not deductible for tax purposes 327,383 107,545
   – deferred income tax assets not recognised 65,437 80,862
   – other 18,611 (42,116)

5,628,803 3,457,650

	 (b)	 Movement in current income tax liabilities

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Beginning of financial year 3,506,159 2,908,504 100,587 73,482
Income tax paid (3,391,962) (2,736,347) (57,141) (47,834)
Tax expense 5,399,500 3,414,000 62,000 94,000
Under/(over) provision in prior financial years 11,078 (79,998) (26,414) (19,061)
End of financial year 5,524,775 3,506,159 79,032 100,587

27	 Earnings per share

	 (a)	 Basic earnings per share
	
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Group
2011 2010

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company $26,559,370 $16,951,556

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  
outstanding for basic earnings per share  294,406,934 260,786,150

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 9.02 6.50



Notes to the 
Financial Statements cont’d
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

OKP Holdings Limited

p. 124

27	 Earnings per share (Cont’d…)

	 (b)	D iluted earnings per share
	
	� For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company and the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares.  The Company has warrants as dilutive potential ordinary shares.

	� The weighted average number of shares on issue has been adjusted as if all dilutive warrants were exercised. The 
number of shares that could have been issued upon the exercise of all dilutive warrants less the number of shares 
that could have been issued at fair value (determined as the Company’s average share price for the financial year) 
for the same total proceeds is added to the denominator as the number of shares issued for no consideration.  No 
adjustment is made to the net profit. 

Diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company is calculated as follows:

Group
2011 2010

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company $26,559,370 $16,951,556

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding for basic earnings per share 294,406,934 260,786,150

Adjustments for
– Warrants 2,564,374 25,829,039

296,971,308 286,615,189

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 8.94 5.91

28	 Dividends

Group and Company
2011 2010

$ $

Ordinary dividends paid
First and final one-tier tax exempt dividend paid in respect 

of the previous financial year of 2.0 cents (2010: 2.0 cents) per share  6,086,932 5,291,330 

Special one-tier tax exempt dividends paid in respect 
of the previous financial year of 2.0 cents (2010: 1.0 cent) per share 6,086,932 2,645,665

Interim one-tier tax exempt dividend in respect of current
	 financial year of 1.0 cent (2010: 1.0 cent) per share 3,047,237 2,647,549

15,221,101 10,584,544

At the Annual General Meeting on 25 April 2012, a final tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 2.0 cents per share amounting to 
a total of approximately $6,108,752 will be recommended.  These financial statements do not reflect these dividends, which 
will be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained profits in the financial year ending 31 December 
2012.
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29	 Related party transactions

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions took place between 
the Group and related parties at terms agreed between the parties:

Key management personnel compensation

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Wages and salaries 8,413,981 6,078,565
Employer’s contribution to defined contribution 

plans including Central Provident Fund 89,815 81,315
8,503,796 6,159,880

Included in the above is total compensation to directors of the Company amounting to $7,348,636 (2010: $5,097,452).

30	 Financial risk management 

	 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk  and liquidity risk.  
The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial 
markets on the Group’s financial performance. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial risk management for 
the Group. The Board of Directors then establishes the detailed policies such as authority levels, oversight responsibilities, 
risk identification and measurement and exposure limits, in accordance with the objectives and underlying principles 
approved by the Board of Directors.

	 (i)	 Market risk

	 (a)	 Currency risk

		�  The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange rate risk is kept at minimal level as its costs and revenues are 
predominately denominated in Singapore Dollar. Currency risk arises within entities in the Group when 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies such as the United States Dollar (“USD”). 

	
		�  In addition, the Group is exposed to currency translation risk on the net assets in foreign operations.  

Currency exposure to the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations in Saipan, Commonwealth of the 
Northern Mariana Islands is not significant to the Group as the foreign subsidiaries are currently under 
liquidation proceedings.
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30	 Financial risk management (Cont’d…)
	

	 (i)	 Market risk (Cont’d…)

	 (a)	 Currency risk (Cont’d…)

The Group’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

SGD USD Total
$ $ $

At 31 December 2011

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents and financial asset, 

available-for-sale 90,701,125 2,530.813 93,231,938
Trade and other receivables 28,830,308 6,377 28,836,685
Inter-company balances 21,334,374 4,262,873 25,597,247
Other financial assets 1,500,000 – 1,500,000

142,365,807 6,800,063 149,165,870
Financial liabilities
Finance lease liabilities 1,128,687 – 1,128,687
Inter-company balances 21,334,374 4,262,873 25,597,247
Other financial liabilities 51,813,409 1,162,046 52,975,455

74,276,470 5,424,919 79,701,389
Net financial assets	 68,089,337 684,499 69,464,481
Add: Net non-financial assets 18,711,455 (93,632) 18,617,823
Net assets/currency profile including non-financial assets 

and liabilities 86,800,792 1,281,512 88,082,304

Currency exposure of financial assets/(liabilities) net of 
those denominated in the respective entities functional 
currencies – 2,530,813 2,530,813

At 31 December 2010

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents and financial asset, 

available-for-sale 98,362,228 2,437,137 100,799,365
Trade and other receivables 27,906,372 6,377 27,912,749
Inter-company balances 22,010,391 4,229,339 26,239,730
Other financial assets 1,000,000 – 1,000,000

149,278,991 6,672,853 155,951,844
Financial liabilities
Finance lease liabilities 1,841,465 – 1,841,465
Inter-company balances 22,010,391 4,229,339 26,239,730
Other financial liabilities 77,093,243 1,341,715 78,434,958

100,945,099 5,571,054 106,516,153
Net financial assets 48,333,892 1,101,799 49,435,691
Add: Net non-financial assets 19,592,483 (93,632) 19,498,851
Net assets/currency profile including non-financial assets 

and liabilities 67,926,375 1,008,167 68,934,542

Currency exposure of financial assets/(liabilities) net of 
those denominated in the respective entities functional 
currencies 452,552 2,427,594 2,880,146
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30	 Financial risk management (Cont’d…)
	

	 (i)	 Market risk (Cont’d…)

	 (a)	 Currency risk (Cont’d…)

		  The Company’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

SGD USD Total
$ $ $

At 31 December 2011

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 20,816,749 726,650 21,543,399
Trade and other receivables 12,936,611 – 12,936,611

33,753,360 726,650 34,480,010
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities 11,089,628 – 11,089,628
Net financial assets 22,663,732 726,650 23,390,382
Add: Net non-financial assets 20,961,900 – 20,961,900
Net assets/currency profile including non-financial assets 

and liabilities 43,625,632 726,650 44,352,282

Currency exposure of financial assets/ (liabilities) net of 
those denominated in the respective entities functional 
currencies – 726,650 726,650

At 31 December 2010

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 13,356,271 746,142 14,102,413
Trade and other receivables 15,492,248 – 15,492,248

28,848,519 746,142 29,594,661
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities 8,976,037 – 8,976,037
Net financial assets 19,872,482 746,142 20,618,624
Add: Net non-financial assets 18,536,190 – 18,536,190
Net assets/currency profile including non-financial assets 

and liabilities 38,408,672 746,142 39,154,814

Currency exposure of financial assets/(liabilities) net of 
those denominated in the respective entities functional 
currencies – 746,142 746,142

		�  If the USD has strengthened/weakened by 2% (2010: 2%) against the SGD with all other variables 
including tax rate being held constant, the impact to the equity and net profit of the Group and the Company 
arising from currency translation gains/losses of USD - denominated financial instruments will not be 
significant.
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30	 Financial risk management (Cont’d…)
	

	 (i)	 Market risk (Cont’d…)

	 (b)	 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market intetest rate. The Group’s interest rate risk is 
primarily from short-term deposits that will mature from 1 to 12 months. These short-term bank deposits are 
placed on a short-term basis according to the Group’s cash flow requirements, and hence the Group does 
not hedge against interest rate fluctuations. 

The effective interest rates for short-term bank deposits ranged from 0.125% to 0.80% per annum in 
2011 (2010: 0.01% to 0.88% per annum). These deposits are staggered in varying periods and amounts in 
accordance with the cash requirements of the Group. Any significant movement in the interest rates is not 
likely to be material to the Group. 	

	 (ii)	 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss 
to the Group. The major classes of financial assets of the Group and of the Company are bank deposits and trade 
receivables. For trade receivables, the Group adopts the policy of focusing on government bodies as its customers 
due to their low default risk on billings and payments.  For other financial assets, the Group adopts the policy of 
dealing only with high credit quality counterparties.

Credit exposure to an individual counterparty is restricted by credit limits that are approved by the Group 
Managing Director based on ongoing credit evaluation.  The counterparty’s payment profile and credit exposure 
are continuously monitored at the entity level by the respective management and at the Group level by the Group 
Managing Director.  The trade receivables of the Group and of the Company comprise 4 customers (2010: 1 
customer) respectively that individually represented more than 10% of trade receivables.
	
As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of 
financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the balance sheet, 
except as follows:

Company
2011 2010

$ $

Corporate guarantees provided to banks on subsidiaries
– Finance lease (Notes 15 and 33) 1,128,687 1,846,465
– Performance bonds (Note 33) 89,040,475 83,627,697

90,169,162 85,469,162
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30	 Financial risk management (Cont’d…)
	

	 (ii)	 Credit risk (Cont’d…)

	 The credit risk for trade receivables based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

By geographical areas
Singapore 4,746,494 7,186,264 12,900,200 14,971,000

By types of customers
Non-related parties
– Government bodies 1,987,200 6,487,496 – –
– Non-government bodies 2,759,294 698,768 – –
Subsidiaries – – 12,900,200 14,971,000

4,746,494 7,186,264 12,900,200 14,971,000

	 (a)	 Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits with banks with high credit-ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.  Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are 
substantially companies with a good collection track record with the Group.

There were no trade receivables past due or impaired that were re-negotiated during the financial year. 

	 (b)	 Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired

There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for trade receivables.

The age analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Past due 0 to 3 months 943,925 9,578 – –
Past due 3 to 6 months 191,568 8,807 – –

1,135,493 18,385 – –
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30	 Financial risk management (Cont’d…)

	 (ii)	 Credit risk (Cont’d…)

	The carrying amount of trade receivables individually determined to be impaired and the movement in the related 
allowance for impairment is as follows:

 

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Gross amount – – 531,000 531,000
Less: Allowance for impairment – – (531,000) (531,000)

– – – –

Beginning of financial year 52,548 531,000 531,000
Allowance made/(utilised) (52,548) – –
End of financial year –    – 531,000 531,000

The impaired trade receivables arise mainly from advances to subsidiaries which have suffered significant losses in 
its operations and are inactive.

	 (iii)	L iquidity risk 

The Group and the Company manage the liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents 
and having an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to enable them to meet their normal operating 
commitments.

The table below analyses non-derivative financial liabilities of the Group and the Company into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their 
carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5

1 year years years
$ $ $

Group
At 31 December 2011  
Trade and other payables 52,975,455 – –
Finance lease liabilities 646,992 481,695 –

53,622,447 481,695 –

At 31 December 2010
Trade and other payables 78,434,958 – –
Finance lease liabilities 1,009,472 978,461 76,642

79,444,430 978,461 76,642

Company
At 31 December 2011
Trade and other payables 11,089,628 – –

At 31 December 2010
Trade and other payables 8,976,037 – –
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30	 Financial risk management (Cont’d…)

	 (iv)	 Capital risk

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value.  In order to maintain or achieve an 
optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, return capital to shareholders, issue 
new shares, buy back issued shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings.

The Group’s and Company’s strategies in monitoring their capital, which were unchanged from 2010, are to maintain 
gearing ratios within 25% to 30% and 4% to 10% respectively.

The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as borrowings plus trade 
and other payables less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity plus net debt.

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Net debt – – – –
Total equity 88,082,304 68,934,542 44,352,282 39,154,814
Total capital 88,082,304 68,934,542 44,352,282 39,154,814

Gearing ratio – – – –

The following table presents assets measured at fair value and classified by level of fair value measurement 
hierarchy as follows: 

Level 1 Total
$ $

As at 31 December 2011
Financial asset, available-for-sale 708,230 708,230

As at 31 December 2010
Financial asset, available-for-sale 725,521 725,521

	
The Company classifies fair value measurements using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities (Level 1).

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables and payables, and other current 
assets approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments. 
The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to financial 
statements. 
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31	 Segment information 

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board of Directors that are 
used to make strategic decisions.  The Group’s operating segments are its strategic business units which offer different 
services and are managed separately. The reportable segment presentation is based on the Group’s management and 
internal reporting structure used for its strategic decision-making purposes.  Currently, the business segments operate only 
in Singapore.

Other service included in Singapore is investment holding, which is not included within the reportable operating segments, as 
this is not included in the reports provided to the Board of Directors.  The result of this operation, if any, is included in the “all 
other segments” column. 

The Group’s activities comprise the following reportable segments:
	
Construction –		� It relates to the construction of urban and arterial roads, expressways, vehicular bridges, flyovers and 

buildings, airports infrastructure, and oil and gas-related infrastructure for petrochemical plants and oil 
storage terminals.

	
Maintenance –		� It relates to re-construction work performed on roads, road reserves, pavements, footpaths and kerbs, 

guardrails, drains, signboards as well as bus bays and shelters.

31 December 2011 31 December 2010

All other All other

Construction Maintenance segments Total Construction Maintenance segments Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Revenue
Total segment  revenue 90,226 26,977 – 117,203 115,977 26,118 – 142,095

Inter-segment  revenue – (7,386) – (7,386) – (2,239) – (2,239)

Revenue to external parties 90,226 19,591 – 109,817 115,977 23,879 – 139,856

Gross profit 36,304 6,906 – 43,211 22,944 6,549 29,493

Other income 1,024 887

Unallocated costs (11,971) (9,788)

32,264 20,592

Finance expense (114) (151)

Profit before income tax 32,150 20,441

Income tax expense (5,640) (3,559)

Net profit 26,510 16,882

Segment Assets 23,555 7,294 – 30,849 22,219 9,628 – 31,847

Segment Liabilities 38,047 7,166 – 45,213 58,527 12,976 – 71,503

Revenue between segments are carried out at arm’s length.  The revenue from external parties reported to the Board of 
Directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in the statement of comprehensive income.

The Board of Directors assesses the performance of the operating segments based on gross profit.  Administrative and 
finance expenses, and other income are not allocated to segments.
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31	 Segment information (Cont’d…)

	 (i)	 Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

	� The amounts provided to the Board of Directors with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 
with that of the financial statements.  For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources 
between segments, the Board of Directors monitors the intangible asset, construction contract work in progress, and 
trade receivables.  All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than cash and cash equivalents, deposits, 
prepayments, other receivables, investment property, financial asset, available-for-sale, financial assets, held-to-
maturity, and property, plant and equipment.           

2011 2010
$’000 $’000

Segment assets for reportable segments 30,849 31,847
Unallocated:

– Cash and cash equivalent 92,524 100,074
– Deposits, prepayments, and other receivables 2,409 967
– Investment property 1,650 1,500
– Financial assets, held to maturity 1,500 1,000
– Financial asset, available-for-sale 708 726
– Property, plant and equipment 18,693 16,996

148,333 153,110

	 (ii)	 Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:

The amounts provided to the Board of Directors with respect to total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent 
with that of the financial statements. These liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment.  All 
liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments other than other payables, income tax liabilities, deferred income 
tax liabilities, and finance lease liabilities.

2011 2010
$’000 $’000

Segment liabilities for reportable segments 45,213 71,503
Unallocated:
– Other payables 7,761 6,932
– Income tax liabilities 5,525 3,506
– Deferred income tax liabilities 622 393
– Finance lease liabilities 1,129 1,841

60,250 84,175
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32	 Commitments

	 (i)	 Capital Commitments

Capital expenditures contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Property, plant and equipment 659,043 2,180,274 1,483,362 3,378,359

	 (ii)	 Operating lease commitments – where the Group is a lessee

The Group leases land from non-related party under non-cancellable operating lease agreement.

The future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating lease contracted for at the balance sheet date 
but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Not later than one year 95,337 95,337
Between one and five years 381,348 381,348
Later than five years 786,531 881,868

1,263,216 1,358,553

33	contingent  liabilities

	� (i)	 Corporate Guarantee

(a) 	 The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks and financing institutions to secure the subsidiaries’ 
finance lease (Note 15 and 30).

(b) 	 In addition, the Company has also issued corporate guarantees to banks in respect of performance bonds issued by 
the banks in favor of subsidiaries’ third-party customers (Note 30)

	 (ii)	 Financial Support

	 The Company provided letters of financial support to certain subsidiaries to enable these subsidiaries to operate as going 
concern and to meet their liabilities and as and when they fall due.
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34	 New or revised accounting standards and interpretations

	� Below are the mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that have been published, and 
are relevant for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 or later periods and which the Group 
has not early adopted:

•	 �Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2011)

•	 �Amendments to FRS 1 – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2012)

•	 �Amendments to FRS 12 – Referred Tax : Recovery of Underlying Assets (effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2012)

•	 �FRS 19 (Revised 2011) – Employee Benefits (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

•	 �FRS 27 (Revised 2011) – Separate Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2013)

•	 �FRS 110 – Consolidated Financial Statements (effective for annual report on or after 1 January 2013)

•	 �FRS 112 – Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013)

•	 �FRS 113 – Fair Value Measurement (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

•	 �FRS 111 – Joint Arrangements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS in the future periods 
will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company in the period of their initial 
adoption.
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Letter to 
Shareholders

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No. 200201165G)

Board of Directors:- Registered Office:-

Mr Or Kim Peow (Group Chairman)
Mr Or Toh Wat (Group Managing Director)
Mdm Ang Beng Tin (Executive Director)
Mr Or Kiam Meng (Executive Director)
Mr Oh Enc Nam (Executive Director)
Mr Or Lay Huat Daniel (Executive Director)
Dr Chen Seow Phun, John (Lead Independent Director)
Mr Nirumalan s/o V Kanapathi Pillai (Independent Director)
Mr Tan Boen Eng (Independent Director)

No. 6 Tagore Drive, 
#B1-06 Tagore Building,
Singapore 787623

2 April 2012

To: The Shareholders of OKP Holdings Limited (“Shareholders”)

Dear Sir/Madam

PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

We refer to the Notice of the Annual General Meeting (the “2012 AGM”) of OKP Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together 
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) dated 2 April 2012 in respect of the AGM to be held on Wednesday, 25 April 2012 at 11.00 am 
at No. 6 Tagore Drive, #B1-06 Tagore Building, Singapore 787623 and resolution 10 set out under “Special Business” in the Notice 
of the said AGM.

1. 	 INTRODUCTION

 	� Shareholders had approved a mandate (the “Share Purchase Mandate”) at the extraordinary general meeting held on 20 
April 2009 to enable the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire issued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company 
(“Shares”). The Share Purchase Mandate had been subsequently renewed at the annual general meeting held on 20 
April 2011. The authority conferred on the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) under the current Share Purchase 
Mandate will expire at the forthcoming Tenth AGM (2012 AGM) to be held on 25 April 2012.

	� Accordingly, the Directors propose to seek the approval of Shareholders for the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate. 
The purpose of this letter (“Letter”) is to provide Shareholders with information in relation to the renewal of the Share 
Purchase Mandate.

2. 	 RATIONALE FOR THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

	� The rationale for the Company to undertake the purchase or acquisition of its Shares is that the Share Purchase Mandate 
would give the Company the flexibility to undertake purchases of its Shares at any time, subject to market conditions, during 
the period when the Share Purchase Mandate is in force. Share purchases provide the Company with a mechanism to 
facilitate the return of surplus cash over and above its ordinary capital requirements, in an expedient and cost-efficient 
manner. The Share Purchase Mandate will also allow the Directors to exercise greater control over the Company’s share 
capital structure, dividend payout and cash reserves, with a view to enhancing the net tangible assets and/or earnings per 
Share. 
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2. 	 RATIONALE FOR THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE (Cont’d…)

	� The purchase or acquisition of Shares will only be undertaken if the Directors believe that it can benefit the Company 
and Shareholders. Shareholders should note that purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase 
Mandate may not be carried out to the full 10% limit as authorised. No purchase or acquisition of Shares will be made in 
circumstances, which would have or may have a material adverse effect on the liquidity and capital of the Company and the 
Group.

3.	 AUTHORITY AND LIMITS OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

	� The authority and limitations placed on purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company under the proposed Share 
Purchase Mandate, if renewed at the 2012 AGM, are summarised below:-

	 (a)	 Maximum Number of Shares

	� The Company may purchase only Shares, which are issued and fully paid-up.  The total number of Shares that may 
be purchased is limited to that number of Shares representing not more than 10% of the issued Shares as at the 
date of the 2012 AGM on which the resolution renewing the Share Purchase Mandate is passed (the “Approval 
Date”). Shares, which are held as treasury shares, will be disregarded for purposes of computing the 10% limit. 

	� As at 7 March 2012 (the “Latest Practicable Date”), the Company had 305,460,585 issued Shares and no treasury 
shares, and thus up to 30,546,058 issued Shares may be purchased by the Company, assuming that the number of 
issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company remains unchanged up to the date of the 2012 AGM. 

	 (b)	D uration of Authority

	� Purchases of Shares may be made, at any time and from time to time, from the Approval Date up to the earliest of:-

	 (i)	 the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or required by law to be held; 

	 (ii)	� the date on which Share purchases have been carried out to the full extent of the Share Purchase Mandate; 
or

	 (iii)	� the date on which the authority contained in the Share Purchase Mandate is varied or revoked by an ordinary 
resolution of Shareholders in general meeting.

	 (c)	 Manner of Purchase

Purchases of Shares may be made on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) (“Market 
Purchases”) and/or otherwise than on the SGX-ST, in accordance with an equal access scheme (“Off-Market 
Purchases”) as defined in Section 76C(6) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Companies Act”).

Market Purchases refer to purchases of Shares by the Company effected on the SGX-ST through one or more duly 
licensed stockbrokers appointed by the Company for the purpose.

Off-Market Purchases refer to purchases of Shares by the Company made under an equal access scheme or 
schemes for the purchase of Shares from Shareholders. The Directors may impose such terms and conditions, which 
are not inconsistent with the Share Purchase Mandate and the Companies Act, as they consider fit in the interests of 
the Company in connection with or in relation to an equal access scheme or schemes. Under the Companies Act, an 
equal access scheme must satisfy all the following conditions:-

(i)	� offers for the purchase or acquisition of issued shares shall be made to every person who holds issued 
shares to purchase or acquire the same percentage of their issued shares;

(ii)	 all of those persons shall be given a reasonable opportunity to accept the offers made; and
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3.	 AUTHORITY AND LIMITS OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE (Cont’d…)

	 (c)	 Manner of Purchase (Cont’d…)

(iii)	 the terms of all the offers are the same, except that there shall be disregarded:-

		  (aa)	� differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers may relate to shares with different 
accrued dividend entitlements;

		  (bb)	� (if applicable) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers relate to shares with 
different amounts remaining unpaid; and

		  (cc)	� differences in the offers introduced solely to ensure that each person is left with a whole number of 
shares.

	� In addition, the Listing Manual provides that, in making an Off-Market Purchase, the Company must issue an offer 
document to all Shareholders, which must contain at least the following information:-

	 (i)	 the terms and conditions of the offer;

(ii)	 the period and procedures for acceptances;

(iii) 	 the reasons for the proposed share purchase;

(iv)	� the consequences, if any, of share purchases by the Company that will arise under the Singapore Code on 
Take-overs and Mergers (the “Take-over Code”) or other applicable take-over rules;

(v) 	 whether the share purchase, if made, would have any effect on the listing of the Shares on the SGX-ST;

(vi)	� details of any share purchases made by the Company in the previous twelve (12) months (whether Market 
Purchases or Off-Market Purchases), giving the total number of Shares purchased, the purchase price per 
Share or the highest and lowest prices paid for the purchases, where relevant, and the total consideration 
paid for the purchases; and

(vii)	 whether the Shares purchased by the Company will be cancelled or kept as treasury shares.

	 (d)	 Maximum Purchase Price

	� The purchase price (excluding brokerage, stamp duties, commissions, applicable goods and services tax and other 
related expenses) to be paid for the Shares will be determined by the Directors.

However, the purchase price must not exceed:-

(i)	� in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price (as defined below); and

(ii)	� in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120% of the Highest Last Dealt 
Price (as defined below),

(the “Maximum Price”) in either case, excluding related expenses of the purchase.

For the above purposes:-

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last five (5) Market 
Days on which transactions in Shares were recorded, preceding the day of the Market Purchase, and deemed to be 
adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after such five-day market period;

“Highest Last Dealt Price” means the highest price transacted for a Share as recorded on the Market Day on 
which there were trades in Shares immediately preceding the day of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-
Market Purchase;
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3.	 AUTHORITY AND LIMITS OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE (Cont’d…)

	 (d)	 Maximum Purchase Price (Cont’d…)

“day of the making of the offer” means the day on which the Company announces its intention to make an 
offer for the purchase of Shares from Shareholders, stating the purchase price (which shall not be more than the 
Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the relevant terms of the equal access 
scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase; and

“Market Day” means a day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities.

4.	 STATUS OF PURCHASED SHARES

Any Share which is purchased by the Company is deemed cancelled immediately on purchase (and all rights and privileges 
attached to that Share will expire on cancellation) unless such Share is held by the Company as a treasury share. 
Accordingly, the total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the number of Shares purchased or acquired by the 
Company and which are not held as treasury shares.

Under the Companies Act, Shares purchased or acquired by the Company may be held or dealt with as treasury shares. 
According to the key provisions on treasury shares under the Companies Act:-

	 (a)	 Maximum Holdings

	 The number of Shares held as treasury shares cannot at any time exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares.

	 (b)	V oting and other Rights

	� The Company will not have the right to attend or vote at meetings and/or to receive any dividends in respect of 
treasury shares. However, the allotment of treasury shares as fully paid bonus shares is allowed. Also, a subdivision 
or consolidation of any treasury share into treasury shares of a smaller amount is allowed so long as the total value 
of the treasury shares after the subdivision or consolidation is the same as before.

	 (c)	D isposal and Cancellation

	 The Company may dispose of treasury shares at any time in the following ways:-

(i)	 selling the treasury shares for cash;

(ii)	 transferring the treasury shares for the purposes of or pursuant to an employees’ share scheme;

(iii)	� transferring the treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets of another 
company or assets of a person;

(iv)	 cancelling the treasury shares; or

(v)	� selling, transferring or otherwise using the treasury shares for such other purposes as may be prescribed by 
the Minister for Finance.
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5.	 SOURCE OF FUNDS 

Any purchase of Shares may be made out of the Company’s distributable profits that are available for payment as dividends. 
The Companies Act also permits the Company to purchase its Shares out of capital, provided that:-

(a)	� the Company is able to pay its debts in full at the time it purchases the Shares and will be able to pay its debts as 
they fall due in the normal course of business in the twelve (12) months immediately following the purchase; and

(b)	� the value of the Company’s assets is not less than the value of its liabilities (including contingent liabilities) and will 
not after the purchase of Shares become less than the value of its liabilities (including contingent liabilities).

	� The Company will use internal sources of funds, or a combination of internal resources and external borrowings, to finance 
purchases of its Shares.

6.	 FINANCIAL EFFECTS

It is not possible for the Company to realistically calculate or quantify the impact of purchases that may be made pursuant to 
the proposed Share Purchase Mandate on the net tangible asset value and earnings per Share as the resultant effect would 
depend on factors such as the aggregate numbers of Shares purchased, the purchase prices paid at the relevant times, 
whether the Shares purchased or acquired are held in treasury or immediately cancelled on purchase or acquisition, how the 
Shares held in treasury are subsequently dealt with by the Company in accordance with Section 76K of the Companies Act, 
and the amounts (if any) borrowed by the Company to fund the purchases.

	 (a)	 Purchase or Acquisition Out of Capital or Profits

Where the purchase of Shares is made out of distributable profits, such purchase (including costs incidental to the 
purchase) will correspondingly reduce the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the Company.

Where the purchase of Shares is made out of capital, the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by 
the Company will not be reduced.

Where the purchase of Shares is financed through internal resources, it will reduce the cash reserves of the Group 
and the Company, and thus the current assets and shareholders’ funds of the Group and the Company. This will 
result in an increase in the gearing ratios of the Group and the Company and a decline in the current ratios of the 
Group and the Company. The actual impact on the gearing and current ratios will depend on the number of Shares 
purchased or acquired and the prices at which the Shares are purchased or acquired.

Where the purchase or acquisition of Shares is financed through external borrowings or financing, there would be an 
increase in the gearing ratios of the Group and the Company, and a decline in the current ratios and shareholders’ 
funds of the Group and the Company, with the actual impact dependent on the number of Shares purchased or 
acquired and the prices at which the Shares are purchased or acquired.

	 (b)	I llustrative Financial Effects

For illustrative purposes only and on the basis of the following assumptions:-

(i) 	 that the purchase or acquisition by the Company of 30,546,058 Shares, representing 10% of its issued 
Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the Latest Practicable Date, was made on 31 December 2011;

(ii)	� that the Company purchased or acquired Shares via Market Purchases at the Maximum Price of $0.5534 
for each Share (being 105% of the Average Closing Price as at 31 December 2011); or via Off-Market 
Purchases at the Maximum Price of $0.648 for each Share (being 120% of the Highest Last Dealt Price as 
at 31 December 2011);

(iii)	� that the purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company, which required funds amounting to $16,904,188 
for Market Purchases or $19,793,846 for Off-Market Purchases was financed entirely using its internal 
sources of funds; and

(iv)	� that the purchase or acquisition of Shares was made entirely out of capital and the Shares were held as 
treasury shares after the purchase or acquisition,
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6.	 FINANCIAL EFFECTS (Cont’d…)

	 (b)	I llustrative Financial Effects (Cont’d…)

the financial effects of Share purchases by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate on the audited 
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 (“FY2011”), are set 
out below.

Scenario 1
Market Purchases of 30,546,058 Shares made entirely out of capital and held as treasury shares

Group Company
Before Share After Share Before Share After Share

Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase

As at 31 December 2011
Share capital 36,163,238 36,163,238 36,163,238 36,163,238
Other reserves 28,204 28,204 38,697 38,697
Retained profits 52,012,260 52,012,260 8,150,347 8,150,347

88,203,702 88,203,702 44,352,282 44,352,282
Non-controlling interests (121,398) (121,398) – –

88,082,304 88,082,304 44,352,282 44,352,282
Treasury shares – (16,904,188) – (16,904,188)
Shareholders’ funds 88,082,304 71,178,116 44,352,282 27,448,094

Current assets 124,094,904 107,190,716 34,492,637 17,588,449
Current liabilities 59,146,222 59,147,222 11,168,660 11,168,660
Cash and cash equivalents 92,523,708 75,619,520 21,543,399 4,639,211
Working capital 64,947,682 48,043,494 23,323,977 6,419,789
Total borrowings(1) 1,128,687 1,128,687 – -
Net tangible assets(2) 86,516,151 69,611,963 44,352,282 27,448,094
Net profit after tax attributable to shareholders 26,559,370 26,559,370 12,534,320 12,534,320
Number of Shares 305,244,585 274,698,527 305,244,585 274,698,527

Financial Ratios
Net tangible assets per Share  (cents) 28.34 25.34 14.53 9.99
Earnings per Share(3) (cents)
–	Basic 9.02    9.02 4.26 4.26
–	On a fully diluted basis 8.94    8.94 4.22 4.22
Gearing ratio(4) (times) 0.01          0.02 – –
Current ratio(5) (times) 2.10 1.81 3.09 1.57

Notes:-

(1)	 Total borrowings relate to finance leases.
(2)	 Net tangible assets equal total net assets less deferred expenditure and other intangible assets.
(3)	� For the earnings per Share computation, treasury shares are excluded from the weighted average number of Shares in issue. The weighted 

average number of Shares used in the computation of earnings per Share is as follows:-

Group and Company

Before Share Purchase After Share Purchase

Weighted average number of Shares 
– Basic
– Fully diluted basis

294,406,934
296,971,308

294,406,934
296,971,308

(4)	 Gearing ratio equals total borrowings divided by shareholders’ funds.
(5)	 Current ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities.
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6.	 FINANCIAL EFFECTS (Cont’d…)

	 (b)	I llustrative Financial Effects (Cont’d…)

Scenario 2
Off-Market Purchases of 30,546,058 Shares made entirely out of capital and held as treasury shares

Group Company
Before Share After Share Before Share After Share

Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase

As at 31 December 2011
Share capital 36,163,238 36,163,238 36,163,238 36,163,238
Other reserves 28,204 28,204 38,697 38,697
Retained profits 52,012,260 52,012,260 8,150,347 8,150,347

88,203,702 88,203,702 44,352,282 44,352,282
Non-controlling interests (121,398) (121,398) - -

88,082,304 88,082,304 44,352,282 44,352,282
Treasury shares - (19,793,846) - (19,793,846)
Shareholders’ funds 88,082,304 68,288,458 44,352,282 24,558,436

Current assets 124,094,904 104,301,058 34,492,637 14,698,791
Current liabilities 59,147,222 59,147,222 11,168,660 11,168,660
Cash and cash equivalents 92,523,708 72,729,862 21,543,399 1,749,553
Working capital 64,947,682 45,153,836 23,323,977 3,530,131
Total borrowings(1) 1,128,687 1,128,687 - -
Net tangible assets(2) 86,516,151 66,722,305 44,352,282 24,558,436
Net profit after tax attributable to shareholders 26,559,370 26,559,370 12,534,320 12,534,320
Number of Shares 305,244,585 274,698,527 305,244,585 274,698,527

Financial Ratios
Net tangible assets per Share  (cents) 28.34 24.29 14.53 8.94
Earnings per Share(3) (cents)
–	Basic 9.02 9.02 4.26 4.26
–	On a fully diluted basis 8.94 8.94 4.22 4.22
Gearing ratio(4) (times) 0.01 0.02 - -
Current ratio(5) (times) 2.10 1.76 3.09 1.32

Notes:-

(1)	 Total borrowings relate to finance leases.
(2)	 Net tangible assets equal total net assets less deferred expenditure and other intangible assets.
(3)	 For the earnings per Share computation, treasury shares are excluded from the weighted average number of Shares in issue. The weighted 

average number of Shares used in the computation of earnings per Share is as follows:-

Group and Company

Before Share Purchase After Share Purchase

Weighted average number of Shares 
– Basic
– Fully diluted basis

294,406,934
296,971,308

294,406,934
296,971,308

(4)	 Gearing ratio equals total borrowings divided by shareholders’ funds.
(5)	 Current ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities.
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6.	 FINANCIAL EFFECTS (Cont’d…)

	 (b)	I llustrative Financial Effects (Cont’d…)

	S hareholders should note that the financial effects set out in this Section 6 are purely for illustrative purposes 
only. In particular, it is important to note that the above analysis is based on historical FY2011 numbers and is not 
necessarily representative of the Company’s or the Group’s future financial performance.

7.	 LISTING RULES

Under the listing rules of the SGX-ST, a listed company may purchase shares by way of Market Purchases at a price per 
share which is not more than 5% above the average of the closing market prices of the shares over the last five (5) Market 
Days, on which transactions in the shares were recorded, before the day on which the purchases were made and deemed to 
be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five-day period. The Maximum Price for a Share in relation 
to Market Purchases by the Company, referred to in Section 3(d) above, conforms to this restriction.

The listing rules of the SGX-ST specify that a listed company shall notify the SGX-ST of all purchases or acquisitions of 
its shares not later than 9.00 a.m. (a) in the case of a Market Purchase, on the Market Day following the day of purchase 
or acquisition of any of its shares and (b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase under an equal access scheme, on the 
second Market Day after the close of acceptances of the offer. Such announcement must include details of the date of the 
purchases of the shares, the total number of shares purchased, the number of shares cancelled, the number of shares held 
as treasury shares, the purchase price per share or the highest and lowest prices paid for such shares (as applicable), the 
total consideration (including stamp duties and clearing charges) paid or payable for the shares, and the cumulative number 
of shares purchased. Such announcement will be made in the form prescribed by the Listing Manual.

	� While the listing rules of the SGX-ST do not expressly prohibit any purchase of shares by a listed company during any 
particular time or times, because the listed company would be regarded as an “insider” in relation to any proposed purchase 
or acquisition of its issued shares, the Company will not undertake any purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the 
proposed Share Purchase Mandate at any time after a price sensitive development has occurred or has been the subject 
of a decision until the price sensitive information has been publicly announced. In particular, in observing the best practices 
recommended in the Listing Manual on securities dealings, the Company will not purchase or acquire any Shares through 
Market Purchases during the period of two (2) weeks immediately preceding the announcement of the Company’s quarterly 
results or one (1) month immediately preceding the announcement of the Company’s full-year results, as the case may be, 
and ending on the date of announcement of the relevant results.

8.	 LISTING STATUS ON THE SGX-ST

The Company is required under Rule 723 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual to ensure that at least 10% of its issued Shares 
(excluding treasury shares) are in the hands of the public. The “public”, as defined in the Listing Manual, are persons other 
than the Directors, Chief Executive Officer (or, in the case of the Company, the Group Managing Director), substantial 
shareholders and controlling shareholders of the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as the associates (as defined in the 
Listing Manual) of such persons.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there were approximately 87,674,175 issued Shares in the hands of the public (as 
defined above), representing 28.70% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company.  Assuming that the Company 
purchases its Shares through Market Purchases up to the full 10% limit pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate and holds 
the purchased Shares as treasury shares, the number of issued Shares in the hands of the public would be reduced to 
57,128,117 Shares, representing 20.78% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company. 
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company did not have any treasury shares.
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8.	 LISTING STATUS ON THE SGX-ST (Cont’d…) 

In view of the foregoing, the Company is of the view that there is, at present, a sufficient number of Shares in public hands 
that would permit the Company to potentially undertake purchases of its Shares through Market Purchases up to the full 
10% limit pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate without:-

(i)	 affecting adversely the listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST;

(ii)	 causing market illiquidity; or

	 (iii)	 affecting adversely the orderly trading of Shares.

9.	 TAX IMPLICATIONS

	 (a)	 Where the Company uses its Distributable Profits for Share Purchases

Under Section 10J of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134 (the “Income Tax Act”), a company which purchases its own 
shares using its distributable profits is deemed to have paid a dividend to the shareholders from whom the shares 
are acquired. 

As the Company is under the one-tier corporate tax system, the provisions under Section 44 of the Income Tax Act 
do not apply to the Company. That is, the Company does not need to provide for the franking of dividends for any 
Share purchase made. 

The tax treatment of the receipt from a Share purchase in the hands of the Shareholders will depend on whether 
the disposal arises from a Market Purchase or an Off-Market Purchase. Proceeds received by Shareholders who sell 
their Shares to the Company in Market Purchases will be treated for income tax purposes like any other disposal 
of shares made on SGX-ST and not as dividends. Whether or not such proceeds are taxable in the hands of such 
Shareholders will depend on whether such proceeds are receipts of an income or capital nature. Proceeds received 
by Shareholders who sell their Shares to the Company in an Off-Market Purchase effected by way of an equal 
access scheme will be treated for income tax purposes as receipts of dividends. 

	 (b)	 Where the Company uses its Contributed Capital for the Share Purchase

Under Section 10J of the Income Tax Act, a company which purchases its own shares using its contributed capital is 
not deemed to have paid a dividend to its shareholders from whom the shares are acquired. 

Proceeds received by Shareholders who sell their Shares to the Company for which the purchases were made out 
of contributed capital will be treated for income tax purposes like any other disposal of shares made on SGX-ST 
and not as dividends. Whether or not such proceeds are taxable in the hands of such Shareholders will depend on 
whether such proceeds are receipts of an income or capital nature.

	�S hareholders should note that the foregoing is not to be regarded as advice on the tax position of any Shareholder. 
Shareholders who are in doubt as to their respective tax positions or the tax implications of Share purchases by 
the Company, or, who may be subject to tax whether in or outside Singapore, should consult their own professional 
advisers.
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10.	 IMPLICATIONS OF TAKE-OVER CODE 

	 (a)	O bligation to Make a Take-over Offer

If as a result of any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its Shares, a Shareholder’s proportionate interest 
in the voting capital of the Company increases, such increase will be treated as an acquisition for the purposes of 
the Take-over Code. If such increase results in a change in control, or as a result of such increase a Shareholder or 
group of Shareholders acting in concert obtain or consolidate control, it may in certain circumstances give rise to an 
obligation on the part of such Shareholder or Shareholders to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over 
Code.

The circumstances under which Shareholders, including Directors and persons acting in concert with them 
respectively will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 after a purchase of Shares by the 
Company are set out in Appendix 2 (“TOC Appendix 2”) of the Take-over Code.

In relation to Directors and persons acting in concert with them, Rule 14 provides that unless exempted (or if 
exempted, such exemption is subsequently revoked), Directors and persons acting in concert with them will incur an 
obligation to make a take-over offer if, as a result of a purchase of Shares by the Company:-

(i)	� the percentage of voting rights held by such Directors and their concert parties in the Company increases to 
30% or more; or

(ii)	� if they together hold between 30% and 50% of the Company’s voting rights, their voting rights increase by 
more than 1% in any period of six (6) months.

Under TOC Appendix 2, a Shareholder not acting in concert with the Directors will not be required to make a take-
over offer under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing its Shares, the voting rights of such Shareholder 
would increase to 30% or more, or, if such Shareholder holds between 30% and 50% of the Company’s voting 
rights, the voting rights of such Shareholder would increase by more than 1% in any period of six (6) months. Such 
Shareholder need not abstain from voting in respect of the resolution authorising the Share Purchase Mandate.

	 (b)	 Persons Acting in Concert

Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies who, pursuant to an 
agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal) co-operate, through the acquisition by any of them of 
shares in a company to obtain or consolidate control of that company. Unless the contrary is established, the 
following persons, inter alia, will be presumed to be acting in concert: (i) a company with any of its directors; and (ii) 
a company, its parent, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, and their associated companies, and companies of which 
such companies are associated companies, all with each other. For this purpose, ownership or control of 20% or 
more of the equity share capital of a company will be regarded as the test of associated company status.

	 (c)	E ffect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code

		�  As at the Latest Practicable Date, Or Kim Peow Investments Pte Ltd, the controlling Shareholder of the Company, 
together with persons acting concert with it, comprising Or Kim Peow, Or Toh Wat, Ang Beng Tin, Or Kiam Meng, 
Oh Enc Nam and Or Lay Huat Daniel, who are Directors of the Company, and their close relatives, collectively held 
57.18% of the voting rights of the Company. They would not be obliged to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 of 
the Take-over Code as a result of any purchase of Shares by the Company under the Share Purchase Mandate.

	�S hareholders who are in doubt as to whether they would incur any obligation to make a take-over offer as a result 
of any purchase of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate are advised to consult their 
professional advisers and/or the SIC and/or other relevant authorities at the earliest opportunity.
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11.	 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

Within 30 days of the passing of the Shareholders’ resolution to renew the Share Purchase Mandate, the Directors shall 
lodge a copy of such resolution with the Registrar of Companies (the “Registrar”).

The Directors shall lodge with the Registrar a notice of share purchase within 30 days of a share purchase. Such notification 
shall include the date of the purchase, the number of Shares purchased by the Company, the number of Shares cancelled, 
the number of Shares held as treasury shares, the Company’s issued share capital before and after the purchase, the 
amount of consideration paid by the Company for the purchase and such other particulars as may be required in the 
prescribed form.

Within 30 days of the cancellation or disposal of treasury shares in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
the Directors shall lodge with the Registrar the notice of cancellation or disposal of treasury shares in the prescribed form.

12.	 NO SHARE PURCHASES IN THE PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS

	 No purchases of Shares have been made by the Company in the 12 months preceding the Latest Practicable Date.

13.	 DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS 

	� The interests of the Directors and substantial Shareholders in the share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable 
Date are, as follows:-

Direct Interest Deemed Interest
Number of Shares % Number of Shares %

Directors
Or Kim Peow(1) 757,000 0.25 168,566,910 55.20
Or Toh Wat 322,000 0.11 – –
Ang Beng Tin 323,500 0.11 – –
Or Kiam Meng 322,000 0.11 – –
Oh Enc Nam 133,000 0.04 – –
Or Lay Huat Daniel 322,000 0.11 – –
Chen Seow Phun, John(2) – – 30,000 0.01
Substantial Shareholders (other than Directors)
Or Kim Peow Investments Pte Ltd 168,566,910 55.20 – –
China Sonangol International (S) Pte. Ltd.(3) 43,125,000 14.12 – –

Notes:

(1)	� Mr Or Kim Peow is deemed to have an interest in the 168,566,910 shares held by Or Kim Peow Investments Pte Ltd by virtue of Section 7 of the 
Companies Act.

(2)	� Dr Chen Seow Phun, John is deemed to have an interest in the 30,000 shares held by his wife, Mdm Lim Kok Huang, by virtue of Section 164(15) of the 
Companies Act.

(3)	� China Sonangol International Limited, Fung Yuen Kwan Veronica, Lo Fong Hung, Newtech Holdings Limited, New Bright International Development 
Limited and Sonangol E.P. are each deemed to be interested in the shares held by China Sonangol International (S) Pte. Ltd. by virtue of Section 7 of the 
Companies Act. 
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14. 	 DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATIONS

	� Having fully considered the rationale for the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate set out in this Letter, the Directors 
believe that the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is in the best interest of the Company. The Board of Directors 
recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 10, being the ordinary resolution relating to the renewal of the 
Share Purchase Mandate to be proposed at the forthcoming 2012 AGM.

15. 	 DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

	� The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this Letter 
and confirm after having made all reasonable enquiries that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, this Letter constitutes 
full and true disclosure of all material facts about the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate, the Company and its 
subsidiaries, and the Directors are not aware of any facts the omission of which would make any statement in this Letter 
misleading. Where information in this Letter has been extracted from published or otherwise publicly available sources or 
obtained from a named source, the sole responsibility of the Directors has been to ensure that such information has been 
accurately and correctly extracted from those sources and/or reproduced in this Letter in its proper form and context.

16.	 DISCLAIMER

	� The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made, reports contained or opinions 
expressed in this Letter.

17.	 DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION 

	� The following documents are available for inspection at the registered office of the Company at No. 6 Tagore Drive, #B1-06 
Tagore Building, Singapore 787623 during normal business hours from the date of this Letter up to the date of the 2012 
AGM:

	 (a) 	 the Annual Report of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2011; and

	 (b) 	 the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.

Yours faithfully

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
OKP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Or Kim Peow
Group Chairman
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Issued and paid-up capital	 :	 $36,208,598 
Number of Shares	 :	 305,460,585
Class of Shares	 :	 Ordinary shares
Voting rights	 :	 One vote per share

The Company does not hold any treasury shares.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
(As at 7 March 2012)

No of No of
Size of Shareholdings Shareholders % Shares %

1  –  999 403 12.08 22,168 0.01
1,000  –  10,000 1,374 41.19 8,176,259 2.67
10,001  –  1,000,000 1,547 46.37 70,770,918 23.17
1,000,001 and above 12 0.36 226,491,240 74.15
Total 3,336 100.00 305,460,585 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 7 March 2012)

Direct Interest Deemed Interest
Number of Shares % Number of Shares %

Or Kim Peow Investments Pte Ltd  168,566,910  55.20  –  – 
China Sonangol International (S) Pte. Ltd. (1)  43,125,000  14.12  –  – 
Or Kim Peow (2)  757,000  0.25  168,566,910  55.20 

Notes:

(1)	� China Sonangol International Limited, Fung Yuen Kwan Veronica, Lo Fong Hung, Newtech Holdings Limited, New Bright International Development Limited and 
Sonangol E.P. are each deemed to be interested in the shares held by China Sonangol International (S) Pte. Ltd. by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, 
Chapter 50.

(2)	� Or Kim Peow is deemed to have an interest in the 168,566,910 shares held by Or Kim Peow Investments Pte Ltd by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, 
Chapter 50.

Statistics of 
Shareholdings
As At 7 March 2012
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
(As at 7 March 2012)

No. Name No.of Shares %

1 Or Kim Peow Investments Pte Ltd  143,566,910 47.00
2 China Sonangol International (S) Pte. Ltd.  43,125,000 14.12
3 Bank of Singapore Nominees Pte Ltd   25,000,000 8.18
4 Lee Choon Siang  2,104,000 0.69
5 United Overseas Bank Nominees (Pte) Ltd  1,940,522 0.64
6 Oh Kim Poy  1,909,500 0.63
7 Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd     1,890,500 0.62
8 Lim Bee Kim  1,661,500 0.54
9 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd  1,543,381 0.51
10 Park Soo Kyung  1,450,000 0.47
11 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd  1,199,927 0.39
12 Ang Kong Beng @ Ang Kong Eng   1,100,000 0.36
13 DB Nominees (Singapore) Pte Ltd  919,625 0.30
14 Or Kim Peow  757,000 0.25
15 OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd  748,518 0.25
16 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd   657,500 0.22
17 Chua Kim Tiong  645,500 0.21
18 Or Lay Wah Elaine  593,950 0.19
19 OCBC Securities Private Ltd   593,550 0.19
20 Lim Kiaw Bee  591,000 0.19

Total 231,997,883 75.95

RULE 723 OF THE SGX LISTING MANUAL – FREE FLOAT

Based on the information provided to the Company as at 7 March 2012, there were 87,674,175 shares held in the hands of the 
public as defined in the SGX Listing Manual, representing 28.70% of the issued shares of the Company.  Accordingly, Rule 723 of 
the SGX Listing Manual has been complied with.

Statistics of 
Shareholdings cont’d
As At 7 March 2012
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Statistics of 
Warrantholdings
As At 7 March 2012

DISTRIBUTION OF WARRANTHOLDINGS 
(As at 7 March 2012)

No of % of No of % of
Size of Warrantholdings Warrantholders Warrantholders Warrants Warrantholdings

1  –  999 13 2.25 6,909 0.19
1,000  –  10,000 477 82.38 1,800,516 49.28
10,001  –  1,000,000 89 15.37 1,846,250 50.53
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 0 0.00 0 0.00
Total 579 100.00 3,653,675 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST WARRANTHOLDERS
(As at 7 March 2012)

No of % of
No. Name of Warrantholders Warrants Warrantholdings

1 Chan Cheow Ho  87,000 2.38
2 Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd   69,000 1.89
3 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd  60,750 1.66
4 Wee Kwan Eng  56,000 1.53
5 Kuan Chee Kin  41,000 1.12
6 Low Chin Yee  39,000 1.07
7 Ong Swee Whatt  39,000 1.07
8 Ang Ah Lek @ An Ah Lek  38,000 1.04
9 Ang Cheok Huan  38,000 1.04
10 Tan Sow Lin  38,000 1.04
11 Thian Yian Chiew  38,000 1.04
12 Wong Teck Chow @ Wong Tek Chow  38,000 1.04
13 Koh Kai Tong  37,000 1.01
14 Seah Thong Hoe  32,000 0.88
15 Yao Fang  30,000 0.82
16 Lui Yew Teck  28,000 0.77
17 Tan Chiang Yong  27,000 0.74
18 OCBC Securities Private Ltd    26,500 0.73
19 Soh Boon Hock  26,250 0.72
20 Eileen Lim Teck Huay    25,000 0.68

Total 813,500 22.27
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Notice of 
Annual General Meeting
(Company Registration No. 200201165G)

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Tenth Annual General Meeting of OKP HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”) will be held 
at No. 6 Tagore Drive, #B1-06 Tagore Building, Singapore 787623 on Wednesday, 25 April 2012 at 11.00 am for the following 
purposes:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

Resolution 1
1.	� To receive and adopt the audited accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 together with the Directors’ 

Report, the Independent Auditor’s Report and the Statement by Directors.	

Resolution 2
2.	� To declare a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of $0.02 per ordinary share for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

Resolution 3
3.	� To re-elect Mdm Ang Beng Tin who is retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 107 of the Company’s Articles of Association 

(the “Articles”) and who, being eligible, offers herself for re-election as a Director.

Resolution 4
4.	� To re-elect Mr Nirumalan s/o V Kanapathi Pillai who is retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 107 of the Articles and who, 

being eligible, offers himself for re-election as a Director.

	 �Mr Nirumalan s/o V Kanapathi Pillai will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Audit 
Committee and the Board considers him to be independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

Resolution 5
5.	� To authorise Mr Or Kim Peow, who is over the age of 70 years, to continue in office as a Director of the Company until the 

next Annual General Meeting pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”). [see Explanatory 
Note (i)]

Resolution 6
6.	� To authorise Mr Tan Boen Eng, who is over the age of 70 years, to continue in office as a Director of the Company until the 

next Annual General Meeting pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Act. [see Explanatory Note (i)]

	� Mr Tan Boen Eng will, upon being authorised to continue in office as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the 
Audit Committee and the Board considers him to be independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

Resolution 7
7.	� To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of $180,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 (FY2010: 

$180,000).

Resolution 8
8.	� To re-appoint Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation as the Company’s Independent Auditor and to authorise the Directors 

to fix their remuneration.

9.	� To transact any other ordinary business that may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

Resolution 9
10.	� To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:-

“Authority to allot and issue shares

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:-
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(A)	 (i) 	� allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

	 (ii)	� make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require shares 
to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, 
debentures or other instruments convertible into shares, 

		�  at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may in 
their absolute discretion deem fit; and

	 (B)	� (notwithstanding that this authority may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument 
made or granted by the Directors while this authority was in force,

	 provided that:-

	 (1)	� the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this authority (including shares to be issued in pursuance 
of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this authority) does not exceed 50% of the total number of issued 
shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph 
(2) below) (“Issued Shares”), of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis 
to the existing shareholders of the Company (including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or 
granted pursuant to this authority) does not exceed 20% of the total number of Issued Shares;

	 (2) 	� (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the 
aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the percentage of Issued Shares 
shall be based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the 
time this authority is given, after adjusting for:-

		  (i)	 new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities; 

		  (ii)	� new shares arising from the exercise of share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or 
subsisting at the time this authority is given, provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with 
Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST; and

		  (ii)	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or sub-division of shares;

	 (3) 	� in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Directors shall comply with the provisions of the Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and 
the Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and

	 (4)	� (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) this authority shall continue in force until the 
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company or the date by which the next annual general 
meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

		  [see Explanatory Note (ii)]

Resolution 10
11.	� To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:-

“Share purchase mandate

That:

(a)	� for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Companies Act”), the exercise 
by the directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire ordinary shares 
(“Shares”) in the issued share capital of the Company not exceeding in aggregate the Prescribed Limit (as hereafter 
defined), at such price or prices as may be determined by the directors of the Company from time to time up to the 
Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way of:

	 (i) 	� market purchases (each a “Market Purchase”) on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(“SGX-ST”), through one or more duly licensed stockbrokers appointed by the Company for the purpose; 
and/or

Notice of 
Annual General Meeting cont’d
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	 (ii) 	� off-market purchases (each an “Off-Market Purchase”) effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST in 
accordance with any equal access scheme as may be determined or formulated by the directors of the 
Company as they consider fit, which scheme shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act,

	� and otherwise in accordance with all other laws, regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as may for the time being 
be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the “Share Purchase 
Mandate”);

	 (b)	� the authority conferred on the directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised 
by the directors of the Company at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the passing 
of this Resolution and expiring on the earliest of:

		  (i)	 the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or required by law to be held;

		  (ii)	� the date on which Share purchases have been carried out to the full extent of the Share Purchase Mandate; or

		  (iii) 	� the date on which the authority contained in the Share Purchase Mandate is varied or revoked by an ordinary 
resolution of shareholders of the Company in general meeting;

	 (c) 	 in this Resolution: 

“Prescribed Limit” means 10% of the issued ordinary Shares of the Company as at the date of the passing of this 
Resolution (excluding any Shares which are held as treasury shares as at the date); and 

“Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased, means an amount (excluding brokerage, commissions, 
stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) not exceeding:

		  (i) 	 in the case of a Market Purchase		  : 	 105% of the Average Closing Price; and

		  (ii) 	 in the case of an Off-Market Purchase	 : 	 120% of the Highest Last Dealt Price,

		  where: 

“Average Closing Price” is the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last five (5) Market Days, 
on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, preceding the day of the Market Purchase, and deemed to be 
adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after such five-day market period; 

“Highest Last Dealt Price” means the highest price transacted for a Share as recorded on the Market Day on 
which there were trades in the Shares immediately preceding the day of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-
Market Purchase; 

“day of the making of the offer” means the day on which the Company announces its intention to make an offer 
for the purchase of Shares from shareholders of the Company stating the purchase price (which shall not be more 
than the Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the relevant terms of the equal 
access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase; and

“Market Day” means a day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities; and

	 (d) 	� the directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and things (including 
executing such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the 
transactions contemplated by this Resolution.

		  [see Explanatory Note (iii)]

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Vincent Lim Bock Hui
Company Secretary

Singapore
2 April 2012
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Explanatory Notes:

(i)	� Ordinary Resolutions 5 and 6 are to authorise Mr Or Kim Peow ad Mr Tan Boen Eng, who are over 70 years old, to continue 
in office as Directors of the Company until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. Section 153(6) of the Act 
requires such authority to be approved by way of ordinary resolutions at the Annual General Meeting of the Company.

(ii)	� Ordinary Resolution 9 is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company and to make or grant 
instruments (such as warrants) convertible into shares, and to issue shares in pursuance of such instruments, up to a 
number not exceeding 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, 
with a sub-limit of 20% for issues other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders. For the purpose of determining the 
aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares shall be based on the total number of 
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time Ordinary Resolution 9 is passed, after 
adjusting for (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities, (b) new shares arising from 
the exercise of share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time Ordinary Resolution 
9 is passed, provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual 
of the SGX-ST, and (b) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or sub-division of shares. Such authority will, unless 
previously revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next annual general meeting of the Company.

(iii)	� Ordinary Resolution 10 will renew the mandate to permit the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire its issued ordinary 
shares on the terms and subject to the conditions of the Resolution. Further details are set out in the Letter to Shareholders 
which is enclosed with the Company’s Annual Report, as an Appendix.

Notes:

(i)	� A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the above Meeting may appoint not more than two proxies to 
attend and vote instead of him.

(ii)	� Where a member appoints two proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy 
in the instrument appointing the proxies. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

(iii)	� If the member is a corporation, the instrument appointing the proxy must be under seal or the hand of an officer or attorney 
duly authorised.

(iv)	� The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at No. 6 Tagore Drive, #B1-
06 Tagore Building, Singapore 787623, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the above Meeting.

NOTICE OF BOOKS CLOSURE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Share Transfer Book and Register of Members of the Company will be closed on 8 May 
2012 for the preparation of dividend payment. Duly completed registrable transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar, 
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte Ltd. of 50 Raffles Place, #32-01, Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623 up to 
5.00 p.m. on 7 May 2012 will be registered to determine shareholders’ entitlements to the proposed final dividend.

Shareholders whose securities accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with shares at 5.00 p.m. on 7 May 
2012 will be entitled to the proposed final dividend.

Subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 25 April 2012, payment of 
the proposed final dividend will be made on 28 May 2012.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Vincent Lim Bock Hui
Company Secretary

Singapore
2 April 2012
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OKP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Company Registration No. 200201165G)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
PROXY FORM

IMPORTANT

1.	� For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy shares in the capital of 
OKP Holdings Limited, this Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request 
of their CPF Approved Nominees, and is sent for their information only.

2.	� This Proxy Form is therefore not valid for use by such CPF investors and shall 
be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by 
them.

I/We  (Name)

of  (Address)

being a member/members of OKP HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”) hereby appoint:

Name Address
NRIC / Passport 

Number
Proportion of 

Shareholdings (%)

and/or  (delete as appropriate)

Name Address
NRIC / Passport 

Number
Proportion of 

Shareholdings (%)

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf, at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the 
Company to be held at No. 6 Tagore Drive, #B1-06 Tagore Building, Singapore 787623 on Wednesday, 25 April 2012 at 11.00 am, 
and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM 
as indicated hereunder. If no specific directions as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her/
their discretion, as he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof.

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against

1. Audited accounts for financial year ended 31 December 2011

2. Payment of final dividend

3. Re-election of Mdm Ang Beng Tin as a Director

4. Re-election of Mr Nirumalan s/o V Kanapthi Pillai as a Director

5. Authority for Mr Or Kim Peow to continue in office as a Director

6. Authority for Mr Tan Boen Eng to continue in office as a Director

7. Approval of Directors’ fees of $180,000

8. Re-appointment of Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation as Independent Auditor

9. Authority to allot and issue shares

10. Share purchase mandate

(Please indicate with a cross [X] in the space provided whether you wish your vote to be cast for or against the resolution as set out 
in the Notice of AGM.)

Dated this  day of  2012 

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares
(a) CDP Register
(b) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

#



Notes:-

1.	� A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend 
and vote on his behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2.	� Where a member appoints two proxies, the proportion of the shareholding to be represented by each proxy shall be 
specified in this proxy form. If no proportion is specified, the Company shall be entitled to treat the first named proxy as 
representing the entire shareholding and any second named proxy as an alternate to the first named or at the Company’s 
option to treat this proxy form as invalid.

3.	� Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository 
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of 
shares. If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that 
number of shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your 
name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this proxy 
form shall be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

4.	� This proxy form must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at No. 6 Tagore Drive, #B1-06 Tagore Building, 
Singapore 787623 not less than 48 hours before the time set for the AGM.

5.	� This proxy form must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where this proxy form 
is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney 
duly authorised.

6.	� Where this proxy form is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified 
copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with this proxy form, failing which this proxy 
form shall be treated as invalid.

7.	� The Company shall be entitled to reject a proxy form which is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the 
true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the proxy form. In 
addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a proxy form if the member, 
being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before 
the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.


